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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
g

SR

2008
—EENF

PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE AR IR RS
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF B AR
THE COMPANY Al ()
(HK$’000) (F#%T)

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ~ ®iR& ),/ (E18)
(HK cents) ()

(89,720)
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NET CURRENT ASSETS/ mEEE,/(AE)

(LIABILITIES) (HK$’000) FER(THETT) 287,911 330,182 47,575 28,310 397,541
NET ASSETS (HK$’000) BEFE(TEL) 322,724 397,446 168,984 156,062 133,952
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFRBES

Chairman and CEO - Mr. Eric Oei
FREFRITBURE — =RITE
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The year under review has been a momentous one for Hong
Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited (“HKE” or “the Company”,
with its subsidiary companies, collectively, “the Group”). In
a year in which the name of the Company and the nature
of the Group’s primary business have changed, the global
economy experienced a sharp deterioration towards the end
of 2008. As a result, the Group has had to face the impact
of the worldwide financial crisis. Although this is not an ideal
environment for a fledgling company which has just started
building up its alternative energy portfolio, | have many
reasons to remain confident in the Group’s prospects for the
future.

A key date for the Group’s development during the year
was 10th April 2008, when HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”)
completed its acquisition of a 74.99% shareholding in
J.I.C. Technology Company Limited (“JIC”), thereby gaining
management control. On 28th May 2008 the name of JIC
was changed to Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited. The
acquired company is a software solutions provider. Since
HKC’s acquisition of a controlling interest, the Group has
begun to be transformed into a vehicle for investing in the
field of alternative energy. The aim is to eventually develop
the Group into a flagship company for HKC’s interests in the
alternative energy industry while peripherally being a provider
of software solutions as well.

To date, HKE has primarily invested in wind power projects,
one of which is a 100.5 MW wind farm in Lunaobao in
Zhangbei region. Two other promising wind farm projects are
currently waiting for various official permits and approvals.
In addition, the Group is involved in a joint venture project
for producing cellulosic ethanol, another form of alternative
energy, in Jiangmen, Guangdong Province, which is still at
the testing stage.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The global financial crisis has affected funding liquidity,
depressed prices of raw materials, and reduced demand
for energy. In response, the Group has been adjusting
its strategies and investment plans for alternative energy
projects over the coming year. For instance, we have shelved
or postponed investment in initiatives that currently do not
look as viable as they once did. For projects that we feel
having significant merit, we are working hard to ally ourselves
with reliable strategic partners who will bring funding,
experience and risk-sharing to any venture.

The Group’s software solutions business has also felt the
effects of the economic slowdown. This has been reflected
in a further impairment loss on intangible assets in relation
to the Group’s customer base recorded for the year under
review.

Despite the losses incurred, the Group’s cash position
remains strong. As of the end of 2008, HKE had net cash of
HK$289.10 million, or HK37.9 cents per share.

PROSPECTS

It is commonly believed that the global financial crisis shall
adversely impact on the world economies well into 2009, and
perhaps drive many countries into recession. The Chinese
government has acted quickly to head off domestic decline,
announcing a range of economic stimulus packages worth a
total of RMB4 trillion that should have the effect of stimulating
the market and boosting domestic spending. Other
measures introduced or expected include tax deductions on
the purchase of fixed assets, cuts in the lending rate, and
relaxations of rules on domestic borrowing.

The Group is confident that these government measures will
ease the burden on many businesses and help engineering
a solid economic recovery. They will also directly benefit
the alternative energy sector. Despite the drop in oil prices,
environmentally friendly energy remains a high priority on the
government’s agenda, and new policies remain committed
to prioritizing use of alternative energies to cut pollution and
reduce reliance on fossil fuels. One obvious effect is that, by
comparison with many other industries, the alternative energy
sector has much easier access to bank project financing
even in today’s tougher credit environment. At a wider level,
the recent change of President in the US has seen the issue
of ‘green’ energy revived there, while ongoing bad news
about global warming is keeping the need for environmentally
friendly energy at the forefront of public thinking around the
world.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

All these represent positive news for the Group and our
alternative energy plans in the longer term. While proceeding
ultra-cautiously in the coming year when ascertaining the
true scale of the global financial crisis, we are optimistic
about our long-term prospects. Our competitive advantages,
which include significant experience in developing alternative
energy projects and rich business connections in the field
across China, should enable us to rebound strongly as
economies settle and the value of resources such as wind-
power reassert themselves. The Group will therefore continue
exploring sources of future investment, and search carefully
for strategic partners ready to provide a sound capital base
for future investment projects.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my greatest
thanks to all our business partners, employees, management
and shareholders for the dedication and support you have
shown in these early days for HKE.

Oei Kang, Eric
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 15th April 2009
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

BEEEN W&k D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31st December 2008, the turnover
for Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited (“HKE” or “the
Company”, with its subsidiary companies, collectively, the
“Group”) amounted to HK$13.88 million, a decrease of 98%
from HK$654.01 million in 2007. Gross profit for the year of
HK$7.99 million represented a decrease of 89% from last
year's gross profit of HK$72.37 million. Net loss attributable
to equity holders of the Group amounted to HK$89.72 million
for the year, as compared to the net profit of HK$228.46
million achieved in 2007. The decrease in turnover and gross
profit was primarily due to discontinuation of the Group’s
LCD business, which had been the Group’s principal
business in 2007. In December 2007, the Group acquired
a software development business, albeit of a significantly
smaller scale. Since early 2008, the Group began investing
in alternative energy projects, but as at 31st December
2008 these remain at the early stage and are yet to generate
revenue for the Group. Meanwhile, the management has
reviewed the carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible
assets related to the software development business and
made a provision for impairment losses, details of which are
set out in Note 16 and Note 17 in the financial statement. For
the year ended 31st December 2008, basic loss per share
amounted to HK11.75 cents (2007: basic earnings per share
of HK29.92 cents).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31st December 2008 the Group did not have any
borrowings as compared with HK$8.58 million as at 31st
December 2007. This was the result of the Group repaying
all borrowings during 2008.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

The Group’s wholly unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
as at 31st December 2008 was HK$289.10 million, a
decrease from HK$344.56 million in 2007. For its alternative
energy projects, the Group expects total capital expenditures
HK$506.81 million, of which HK$110.01 million has already
been arranged and will be injected from the Group’s
internal resources into an associated company. The timing
on injecting the remaining HK$396.80 million of capital
expenditure is under the control of the Group. Apart from
internal sources of funding, the Group is actively seeking
funds to finance its future capital expenditure commitment
from external sources, such as bank financing, or, if
necessary, financial support from its parent company HKC
(Holdings) Limited (“HKC”) (stock code: 190).

The Group will continue its efforts to create an optimum
financial structure that best reflects the long-term interest of
its shareholders.

The Group did not use financial instruments for financial
hedging purposes during the year under review.

Details of Charges in Group Assets
During the year under review, the Group did not have any
charges over the Group’s assets (2007: Nil).

Gearing ratio

The Group maintained a cash position of HK$289.10 million
as at 31st December 2008 with no borrowing, compared
with a net cash position of HK$335.98 million as at 31st
December 2007.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31st
December 2008 (2007: Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s Lunaobao Wind Farm project has moved
forward steadily since the framework agreement with
a subsidiary of China Energy Conservation Investment
Corporation (“CECIC”) was first signed on 18th April 2008.
The Group holds a 30% interest in this project. On 17th July
2008, the National Development and Reform Commission
(“NDRC”) granted approval for the project to proceed, and
on 3rd February 2009, a business license has been obtained
for setting up the project company. The project will involve
construction of a 100.5 MW plant with 67 sets of 1,500 kW
wind turbines, and total investment will amount to about
RMB950.78 million. The target operation date is expected to
be 2010.

There are other wind farm projects that are under review.
One is Siziwang Qi in Inner Mongolia. The Group is applying
to the NDRC for approval to develop a 49.5 MW wind farm
that will have 33 sets of 1,500 kW wind turbines. Total
investment is expected to be around RMB480.5 million.
This project covers only a small part of the 980 sg.km. land
area in Siziwang Qi that HKE’s parent company, HKC, has
the exclusive development rights to. If the total area was
developed, total wind capacity could reach 1,000 MW. There
are, therefore, good prospects for the Group to construct
further phases of wind farm in this location in the future.

A further promising wind farm project was initiated in the
second half of 2008. On 5th September 2008, the Group
signed a framework agreement with a subsidiary of CECIC
to develop a wind farm at Changma, in Gansu Province. The
wind farm will have a target capacity of 201 MW; details of
the development timetable have yet to be finalized.

Besides these three wind power projects, the Group is also
involved in a pilot project for the production of cellulosic
ethanol, an alternative fuel. It signed a technology transfer
and co-operation agreement with GeneHarbor (Hong Kong)
Technologies Ltd in April 2008. The pilot plant, located in
Jiangmen, was set up in the second half of 2008. Testing is
currently taking place at the plant, with tests scheduled to be
completed during 2009.

OUTLOOK

The global financial crisis is expected to impact world
markets in 2009. With domestic demand for goods in
developed countries decreasing, exports of commodities
and services from developing countries are likely to be
significantly hit. From the Group’s perspective, its software
business is likely to be affected by these global trends.
However, the Group’s products are fundamentally sound
and have good long-term potential. The Group intends to use
the projected downturn to focus on consolidating its product
range and customer base. At the same time the Group will
develop and test new products such as navigation engines
and global positioning systems. In this way the Group will
maintain its competitiveness and will be ready to capture new
markets as the economy recovers.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

The Chinese government’s ongoing commitment to cutting
pollution and reducing reliance on fossil fuels should mean
that the financial crisis has relatively less of an impact
on the Group’s alternative energy business. This fact, in
conjunction with the Group’s careful investment and cost-
cutting strategies over the next year or so, should mean that
the true value of its wind farms and other alternative energy
investments will reassert themselves in the not too distant
future.

Employees

As at the end of December 2008, the Group’s operations
in Hong Kong and mainland China employed a total of 86
employees. The Group also appointed technical consultants
on contract terms for its alternative energy projects and
sales consultants for its software business. All employees
are remunerated according to the nature of their jobs, their
individual performances, the Group’s overall performance,
and the prevailing marketing conditions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to good corporate governance
principles and practices and its board of directors (the
“Directors” or the “Board”) recognizes that it is essential
to safeguard the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees and uphold accountability, transparency and
responsibility of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied
with the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) and
recommended best practices set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31st December 2008,
save for the deviations with considered reasons stated in the
following relevant paragraphs.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Company has during the year ended 31st December
2008 maintained a balanced board. The Board currently
comprises eight Directors with four Executive Directors,
one Non-executive Director, and three Independent Non-
executive Directors. Each Director possesses expertise
and experience and provides checks and balances for
safeguarding the interests of the Group and the shareholders
as a whole. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in
pages 26 to 29 of this Annual Report.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three Independent Non-executive Directors with at least
one Independent Non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The independence
of the Independent Non-executive Directors was assessed
in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors has provided to the
Company an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of them to be independent.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer (“CEQ”) should be separate
and performed by different individuals. Under the current
organization structure of the Company, the functions of
CEOQ are performed by the Chairman, Mr. Oei Kang, Eric,
with support from other Executive Directors and senior
management. The Board considers that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between
the Board and the management of the Company, and has
been effective in discharging its responsibilities satisfactorily
and facilitating the Company’s operation and business
development. The Board will review the structure from time
to time to ensure it continues to meet the principle and will
consider segregation of the roles of chairman and CEO if and
when appropriate.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting
the success of the Group by directing and supervising
the Group’s affairs and formulating business strategies
with a view to maximizing its financial performance and
shareholders’ value.

All newly appointed Directors are given comprehensive
documentations of the business operations of the Group and
regulatory and statutory requirements as director together
with briefing meetings with senior executives of the Group.
Directors are provided with continuous updates on the latest
changes in the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices
and other relevant laws and regulations and are encouraged
to participate in continuous professional development
seminars to update their knowledge for discharging directors’
responsibilities.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out
of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of the Executive Directors
of the Company along with other senior executives, is
delegated with responsibilities for implementing the strategy
and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time,
and conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group.
Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to
review the performance of the businesses of various business
units of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources
and make financial and operation decision. The Board also
gives clear directions as to their powers of management
including circumstances where management should report
back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the
needs of the Group.

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of
Directors

All new appointment of Directors and nomination of
Directors proposed for re-election at the annual general
meeting are first considered by the Nomination Committee.
The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or
incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and
ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities. The recommendations of the Nomination
Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. Details
of the role and function as well as a summary of the work
performed by the Nomination Committee are set out under
the heading of “Nomination Committee” below.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not less than one-third of the Directors) shall retire
from office by rotation but are eligible for re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting provided that
every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. New appointments to the Board
are also subject to re-election by shareholders at the next
following annual general meeting.

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors
should be appointed for specific term and subject to re-
election. However, all Non-executive Directors of the
Company were appointed with no specific term, but
are subject to the aforesaid rotation requirement in the
Company’s articles of association. The rotating Directors who
are subject to retirement and re-election at the 2009 annual
general meeting are set out on page 33.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and
exchange ideas on the affairs of the Company. The Board
held four regular board meetings during the year. The
Board has also set up three Board Committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Group’s affairs.
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During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the X - #%&®  BXEE®  ELEZEeRFHEEeY
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the 1T 5|€#% - RZEexsgs o PE |EJR?$3€EAT§
Remuneration Committee were held and the attendance of
the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in the
table below:
Number of meetings attended/held
BHERITEREE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee
=g BEREES yMEES REZEES
Executive Directors #1{T=%=
Mr. OEI Kang, Eric Zffll %t 4 2/3 1/1 (Note FfizE) 2/2 (Note MI5E) 1/1 (Note i)
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
(RZZEZNFOA+REZE)
Mr. TSANG Sai Chung, Kirk & 488 4% 4 3/3 N/A i A 1/1 (Note Bi7E) 1/1 (Note Bfi¥)
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
(R=ZEZN\FHATBEZE)
Mr. CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph [ B3 4% 4 2/3 1/1 (Note Ffi7F) N/A i N/A T35 A
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
(RZZEZNFHA+HBEEE)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel 22877 % 4 N/A i A N/A i A N/A i A N/A i A
(appointed on 1st December 2008)
(RZZETN\F+ A —BEZEE)
Mr. CHEN Libo BRI 54 1/2 N/A i N/A TNiE N/A i A
(appointed on 10th April 2008 and
resigned on 30th September 2008)
(R=ZEZN\FHATBEEEZE &
RZZZENFENA=THEE)
Mr. LIU Xue Qing 2|25t £ N/A i F N/A i A N/A i A N/A N3 F
(appointed on 2nd February 2008 and
resigned on 10th April 2008)
(R=ZEZN\F-_A-HEZE &
RZZZTN\FMA+HEHTE)
Mr. CHUI Kam Wai 438 1% 5t 4 1/1 N/A i@ N/A T~ii N/A i A
(resigned on 2nd February 2008)
(R=ZEENF=-_A-H#FIT)
Mr. YEOH Teck Hooi #5{&E 84t & 11 N/A i A N/A i N/A i A
(resigned on 2nd February 2008)
(RZZEZENF_A_HEHE)
EBMER(ER) BRARDN-SZN\FFR
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEE2wWm
Meetings of the Board and Board Committees ESERESZEEER®@
(continued)

Number of meetings attended/held

BHERITEEREE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee
Bxg EREES FEES REZES
Non-executive Directors E#{TE=E
Mr. LIU Zhixin 2753754 1/3 N/A i N/A TiE R N/A N3 F
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
(R=ZZTN\FHAT+HEZE)
Mr. KOO Ming Kown E&RR# 5t 4 1/1 N/A i N/A TiE M N/A i A
(resigned on 10th April 2008)
(RZZEZN\FHA+BEHE)
Mr. John Quinto FARINA 1/1 N/A iE A N/A i N/A iE A
John Quinto FARINAE &
(resigned on 2nd February 2008)
(R=—ZEZTN\E_-_F_HEHT)
Independent Non-executive Directors ¥ IEHTEE
Mr. ZHANG Songyi 5k M8 3% % 4 2/3 0/1 2/2 1/1
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
(R=ZZN\FHAT+HEZME)
Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest & JK B 4 4= 3/3 11 2/2 1/1
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
(RZZEZENFHATBEEZE)
Mr. YU Hon To, David §1/& % 5t 4 3/3 1/1 2/2 1/1
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
(R=ZEZN\FHATBEEEZE)
Mr. CHAM Yau Nam JE#5Hg 54 11 1/ N/A i N/A i A
(resigned on 10th April 2008)
(R=ZZN\EFH A+ BEHE)
Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung 222875 S 4= 1/1 11 N/A i N/A N3 F
(resigned on 10th April 2008)
(R=ZZEZNFWMA+HEE)
Mr. CHOI Man Chau, Michael £ 30| %t 4 0/1 1/1 N/A 5 N/A & R

(resigned on 10th April 2008)
(R=ZZTN\FHA+BHEHT)

Note: The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as MaE - BITESURBBEAT I LFEEESE -
invitees.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees
(continued)

Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda
for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda
and accompanying board papers are dispatched to the
Directors or committee members at least 3 days before the
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings.
When directors or committee members are unable to attend
a meeting, they are advised of the matters to be discussed
and given an opportunity to make their views known to the
Chairman prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by
the Board and the committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes
of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to
the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the
date on which the meeting is held. All Directors have access
to the company secretary who is responsible for ensuring
that the board procedures are complied with and advising
the Board on compliance matters.

Directors could have recourse to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense and are encouraged to access
and to consult with the Company’s senior management
independently.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiries, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31st December 2008.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the
Company’s securities by relevant employees, who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information
in relation to the securities of the Group, on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company had established a Remuneration Committee
with written terms of reference. The Remuneration
Committee, chaired by an Independent Non-executive
Director, comprises three members namely Mr. ZHANG
Songyi, Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest and Mr. YU Hon To, David,
all of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure for Directors and senior
management, and reviewing their remuneration packages.
In arriving at its recommendations, the Remuneration
Committee will consult with the Chairman and the CEO
whenever it thinks fit and take into consideration factors
such as the remuneration paid by comparable companies,
skill, knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities of
Directors.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings and reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure of Directors and the newly appointed Director. No
Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration at
the meetings of the Committee. The attendance records of
each member are set out on pages 17 to 18. Details of the
Directors’ remuneration for the year are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company had established a Nomination Committee
on 28th May 2008 with written terms of reference. The
Nomination Committee, chaired by an Independent Non-
executive Director, comprises three members namely
Mr. ZHANG Songyi, Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest and Mr. YU
Hon To, David, all of whom are Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Nomination Committee held one meeting
during the year, the attendance details of each member are
set out on pages 17 to 18.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
suitable candidates for directorship, assessing the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors,
and making recommendations to the Board regarding any
proposed appointment or re-appointment.

During the year, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee includes assessing the qualification and
experience of new candidate for directorship and making
recommendation to the Board on such matter.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company had established an Audit Committee with
written terms of reference which have been updated from
time to time to align with the Code Provisions set out in the
CG Code. The Audit Committee, chaired by an Independent
Non-executive Director, comprises three members namely
Mr. ZHANG Songyi, Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest and Mr. YU
Hon To, David, all of whom are Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to,
inter alia, review and supervise the Group’s financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management procedures as
well as oversee the adequacy of the accounting and financial
reporting resources.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings
together with senior management and external auditor,
the attendance details of each member are set out on
pages 17 to 18. The major work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year included reviewing the interim
and annual financial statements, the continuing connected
transactions, the internal audit reports on the internal controls
and risk management matters, as well as reviewing and
recommending the re-appointment of external auditor.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31st December 2008, the fees in respect
of audit services provided to the Group by the auditor
amounted to approximately HK$1,219,000.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

Internal control environment

The Group has had in place an integrated framework of
internal controls which is consistent with the Committee of
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission’s
(“COSQO”) framework. Under the framework, the management
is primarily responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of internal controls while the Board and its
audit committee oversee the actions of the management and
monitor the effectiveness of the controls that have been put
in place. The framework and activities taken are illustrated
below:
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)
Internal control environment (continued)

Framework area

RG0S

Activities taken

FRERERIE e

Control Environment E£323R38

Management takes a hands-on approach and is fully committed to

set the controls environment ensuring that individuals are controls

conscious

EREREB2HE RV ERRE  BREADEBEZEES

The Board has set up relevant committees to ensure regulations are

complied with and internal controls are carried out properly

EFEERVMEMZEE S  UBRSEROIGES - MABEEZES
AHEHTT

Management closely monitors the organization structure and the

responsibilities of individuals granting appropriate authorities for them to

handle assigned tasks

EREERYERESEBNAARTE  FLHEERE  UWEREEE

k2 T

Performance evaluations and recruitment procedures are available to

ensure individuals are competent

RIFHE RARIER T - PARER BRI A T RIRFER

Risk Assessment &k 5T {d

Management has established clear strategic direction and business

objectives

BIEERABWIREE TS| REKBIZ

Formal risk assessment has been conducted to identify and analyse key

risks associated with achieving the Group’s objectives which form the

basis for determining key control activities

LTTJ—.E_U_\, Rarfh - WERE RS MBRERANEEERABZIER
C MERETE F BB 1SS 2 B

Control Activities E5 12255 8)

Policies/procedures on key control activities are established to ensure
management directives are carried out

HIEAEEZEEIERZER TR - DEREIEE 28RS AT
Ranges of activities including approvals, authorization, verifications,
recommendations, performance reviews, asset security and segregation
of duties are identified and implemented

BAIRMIT—RINITE  EREE  H0E  BE KRB B3 &5
B2 BERERBEE D

Information and Communication &%} Xz @1

Pertinent information is identified, captured, processed and reported
Al - BEER - RRIE RERAERE AR

Access to internal and external general information is available

AJEER AR R AN SR —ARE R

Management maintains an open-door policy to allow communication
taking place both across and vertically though the organization

EREBAER AFBOR - UWAFFEBRETHR RER BB
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)
Internal control environment (continued)

A 2B EE I ()
A EPEEIR IR 15 ()

Framework area

RIBES

Activities taken

PR EREN IR e

Monitoring B5%%

Management closely monitors daily operations and the related controls
BEETYERATEEREMER

Internal audit function, the Internal Control and Risk Management
(“ICRM”) department, with adequate resources and well qualified staff
conducts annual internal controls review on major operating units and
projects
BEHARERREBFET 2 NERE1E KA E 2
) (ERRNIEZRE  REFERHTIELES

ER

BEP ( [AERESE
S N IE B 2 AERES

External audit function ensures financial reporting and the related
controls are proper and effective

SN AZ I RE R R IR BT T e e AR A B B R B R A X

External legal advisor and internal company secretary and in-house
legal counsel function ensures the compliance of regulations, standards
and listing rules

SNIEERER - AB A RWERAIARBEMRERETAEMRD
A% Fr#R Al

Risk assessment and management

Under the COSO framework, management identified the
business objectives of the Group and defined the related
risk categories impacting those objectives. Four risk
categories were considered: business, operational, financial
and compliance. A systematic “top-down” approach was
adopted to identify, source and evaluate individual risks and
the interrelationships between risks in the key areas under
those four categories, to which high priorities and resources
were given. Through the ICRM department’s review, risk
mitigation actions were ensured to be taken, which included
establishing or enhancing internal controls and procedures.

Control processes
The Board establishes and maintains a sound internal control
system through the following major processes:

(i) Systems and procedures are in place to identify and
measure risks on an ongoing basis.

(i) An organization structure with defined lines of
responsibility and delegation of authority is devised.

(i) Financial performance is analysed against budget with
variances being accounted for and appropriate actions
are taken to rectify deficiencies.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)

Control processes (continued)

(iv) Having been aware of the fact that all systems of internal
control can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance, the ICRM department is required to evaluate
the adequacy and effectiveness of major controls over
principal operations independently. Full access to all
data and every operation of the Group is granted to the
ICRM department. A risk-based approach is adopted
which concentrates on areas of significant risks or where
significant changes have occurred. Major findings and
recommendations, if any, are reported to the Board and
the audit committee after review.

Annual internal control assessment

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal
controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. The ICRM
department conducts reviews of the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls, including those of its
subsidiaries. The Board and the Audit Committee review the
findings and recommendations of the ICRM department in
the effectiveness after such reviews.

In respect of the year ended 31st December 2008, the
Board considered the internal controls system effective and
adequate.

Price-sensitive Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of price-sensitive information, the
Group has performed the following actions:

() Management and relevant personnel are made aware of
the Group’s obligations under the Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that information which is expected to
be price-sensitive and/or the subject of a major decision
should be announced immediately.

(i) Management and relevant personnel are required to
conduct the Group’s affairs with close regard to the
“Guide on Disclosure of Price-sensitive Information”
issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in
2002.

(i

=

Members of the Group’s top management are identified
and authorised to act as the Group’s spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31st December
2008 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the
Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash
flows. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors
have adopted generally accepted accounting standards in
Hong Kong and suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgments and estimates that
are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on the going concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 49 to
50.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board believes regular and timely communication with
shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our
shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual reports and interim reports of the Company are
distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties
recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications
of the Company, including financial reports, circulars and
announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website at www.hkenergy.com.hk.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue will be considered
by a separate resolution, including the election of individual
directors, and the poll procedures will be clearly explained.
The Chairman of the Board and the Chairmen of the relevant
Board Committees are available to attend the annual general
meeting to inter-face with and answer questions from the
shareholders.
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MR. OEIl KANG, ERIC

(Executive Director, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, aged 38, has been appointed as
Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company since 10th April 2008. He also holds several
directorships in other members of the Group. Mr. OEl was
educated in the USA and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in
Economics (with a minor in Electrical Engineering), and a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration. Earlier in his
career, Mr. OEIl worked with Peregrine Securities Ltd. and
PCCW Limited in Hong Kong, the LG Group in Seoul and
McKinsey & Co. in Los Angeles, USA. Mr. OEl is currently
an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of
HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the controlling
shareholder of the Company. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of HKC. Mr. OEl is also the sole director and the
sole shareholder of Creator Holdings Limited (“Creator”), the
controlling shareholder of HKC.

MR. TSANG SAI CHUNG, KIRK

(Executive Director & Company Secretary)

Mr. TSANG Sai Chung, Kirk, aged 45, has been appointed
as Executive Director and the Company Secretary of the
Company since 10th April 2008. He also holds several
directorships in other members of the Group. Mr. TSANG
graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
Bachelor’'s Degree of Arts. He also holds a Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong. A
qualified solicitor in Hong Kong, he has more than 15 years’
experience in private practice and as an in-house counsel
for various listed companies. Mr. TSANG is currently an
Executive Director, the Company Secretary, the Legal
Counsel and the Chief Operation Officer of HKC. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of HKC and the Legal Counsel
of Creator.
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MR. CHAN KWOK FONG, JOSEPH

(Executive Director)

Mr. CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph, aged 49, has been
appointed as Executive Director of the Company since 10th
April 2008. He also holds several directorships in other
members of the Group. Mr. CHAN holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Economics from York University in Canada. He
has over 20 years’ solid experience in banking and finance
field. Mr. CHAN is currently an Executive Director and the
Chief Financial Officer of HKC. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of HKC.

MR. LEUNG WING SUM, SAMUEL

(Executive Director)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel, aged 45, has been
appointed as Executive Director and the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company since 1st December 2008. He
joined the Group in April 2008 as Qualified Accountant
of the Company. He also holds several directorships in
other members of the Group. Mr. LEUNG is a certified
practising accountant of CPA Australia. Mr. LEUNG obtained
a Master’s Degree in Business from RMIT University of
Australia. He has over 20 years’ experience in auditing and
finance management with an international audit firm and
other major conglomerates in Hong Kong. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. LEUNG was a director of internal control and
risk management of HKC. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of HKC.

MR. LIU ZHIXIN

(Non-executive Director)

Mr. LIU Zhixin, aged 50, has been appointed as Non-
executive Director of the Company since 10th April 2008.
He also holds several directorships in other members of
the Group. Mr. LIU graduated from the Department of Law
of Peking University in China, majoring in economics law.
Mr. LIU was the economist and director of the department
of managers in China Textile News. Mr. LIU had also served
as deputy general manager of New China Hong Kong
Investment Company Limited and was responsible for
major investment projects and consulting business in China.
Mr. LIU is currently a director of certain subsidiaries of HKC.

MR. ZHANG SONGYI

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. ZHANG Songyi, aged 53, has been appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since 10th April 2008. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. ZHANG currently serves
in senior management and advisory capacities in several
companies, including acting as the chairman of Mandra
Capital, a senior advisor of Morgan Stanley Asia Limited, and
a director of SINA Corporation which is a company listed
on the NASDAQ Stock Market. He was a former director of
Suntech Power Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, in the last three years. Mr. ZHANG
obtained a Juris Doctor degree from Yale University in 1985.
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MR. TANG SIU KUI, ERNEST

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest, aged 58, has been appointed
as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since 10th April 2008. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. TANG is a solicitor in private
practice and at present a partner and a consultant of two law
firms respectively. Mr. TANG graduated from The University
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree of Laws and is
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong, England and Australia.
He is also a China Appointed Attesting Officer by the Ministry
of Justice of China.

MR. YU HON TO, DAVID

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. YU Hon To, David, aged 61, has been appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
10th April 2008. He is also a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. YU is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and an associate of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. YU
was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm with
extensive experience in corporate finance. He is a founder
and director of MCL Capital Limited (formerly known as
Management Capital Limited), a company which specializes
in direct investment and financial advisory activities. Mr. YU
is currently an independent non-executive director of several
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange, namely Great
China Holdings Limited, Haier Electronics Group Company
Limited, Ming Pao Enterprises Corporation Limited, One
Media Group Limited, Playmates Holdings Limited, TeleEye
Holdings Limited and VXL Capital Limited. He was a former
independent non-executive director of Hantec Investment
Holdings Limited, BALtrans Holdings Limited and Shun
Cheong Holdings Limited, which are listed on the Stock
Exchange, in the last three years.

il b

(B FBITES)

BIKBELE BTN\ BE-EZN\FHATARERER
ARPPEUIFMITES - RARARRESZZES  RE%
BeLHFMEEGZKE - MELERMANERE - BATSH
RIRMEEMEENAEARER - MEEREREEX
B [FRERBLEN - REE - KB FORMBAIRAED o &
TRAPBERDER M PRIREREA

MEESXE

(BIFHITES)

BEERE  Nt—m BEEN\FUATHEEZRTA
NARBUIENITES - BINALARABZEZES  BERE
BERFTMEES2KE - ertEAERE REBITFTE
A ZERSERBELHMAEE8 cakES R —
BRI EaRA  AELYEZCERELSH - KA
FERE AR 2 7 (F1fEManagement Capital Limited) Z Al
WMANES  ZRAREPINEERRERIFEER 5 -
A B AT AR BN B AT E T AR B IEITE
= BERKFPESBEARAR SREREEERAH -
WEEERAR  BEHBEBARARF ¥ESKEERA
A TEREZERERAGNRELERBBMR AR - ABE=
FoHEABI EMOARTERBRIERERAR « RS
TRERATIRIEESEBRAT ZBIIENITES -

/

ERIMEER(ZR) BRATD-EZNFFR

29



30

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors” or “Board”)
have pleasure in presenting to shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) their report together with the audited
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31st December
2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group are alternative energy
business and software development business. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in pages 114 to 115 of
the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31st December 2008 by geographical and business
segments is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December
2008 are set out in the consolidated income statement on
page 51.

The Directors had resolved not to recommend the payment
of final dividend for the year ended 31st December 2008
(2007: Nil), but proposed to make a bonus issue of warrants
on the basis of 1 bonus warrant for every 10 shares held by
the Shareholders whose name appear on the Register of
Members on 30th April 2009. The subscription price will be
determined by the Board on 22nd April 2009 at a discount to
the average closing price of the shares for the 5 consecutive
trading days (up to and including 22nd April 2009). For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 15th April 2009 which is published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements. There was no movement in the share capital of
the Company during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association of the Company and there is no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31st December
2008, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands (as revised), amounted to HK$249.57
million (2007: HK$322.47 million).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
116.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounting to approximately HK$2,500,000 (2007:
HK$120,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this

report were:

#

Mr. OEIl Kang, Eric
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
Mr. TSANG Sai Chung, Kirk
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
Mr. CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel
(appointed on 1st December 2008)
Mr. LIU Zhixin
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
Mr. ZHANG Songyi
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
Mr. YU Hon To, David
(appointed on 10th April 2008)
Mr. CHEN Libo
(appointed on 10th April 2008 and resigned on
30th September 2008)
Mr. LIU Xue Qing
(appointed on 2nd February 2008 and resigned on
10th April 2008)
Mr. CHUI Kam Wai
(resigned on 2nd February 2008)
Mr. YEOH Teck Hooi
(resigned on 2nd February 2008)
Mr. KOO Ming Kown
(resigned on 10th April 2008)
Mr. John Quinto FARINA
(resigned on 2nd February 2008)
Mr. CHAM Yau Nam
(resigned on 10th April 2008)
Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung
(resigned on 10th April 2008)
Mr. CHOI Man Chau, Michael
(resigned on 10th April 2008)

Executive Director
Non-executive Director
Independent non-executive Director
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DIRECTORS (continued)

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Mr. OEI Kang,
Eric, Mr. LIU Zhixin and Mr. ZHANG Songyi will retire from
office by rotation in accordance with Articles 87(1) and (2) of
the Articles of Association of the Company and being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election to serve for another term.
Further, Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel who was newly
appointed by the Board on 1st December 2008, will also
retire from office in accordance with Article 86(3) and will offer
himself for re-election as Director of the Company.

The Company has received from each Independent
Non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the
Company considered all of them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Board considered that share option is an important
tool for motivating the Group’s employees to work hard to
achieve the long term business objectives of the Company.
At the last annual general meeting held on 27th May 2008,
the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 16th
April 2002 (the “Old Option Scheme”) was terminated and a
new share option scheme (the “New Option Scheme”) which
contains terms substantially similar to the one adopted by
HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”), its holding company, was
adopted. Details of these two share option schemes are
summarized as below.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

BT 8 (m)

New Option Scheme

B RES S

Old Option Scheme
ERREE

(@ Purpose

B #Y

(b) Eligible Persons
BEBAT

The principal purposes are to recruit and
retain high calibre Eligible Persons (as defined
below) and attract human resources that
are valuable to the Group or any entity in
which any member of the Group holds an
equity interest (“Invested Entity” or “Invested
Entities”), to recognise the significant
contributions of the Eligible Persons to the
growth of the Group or Invested Entities by
rewarding them with opportunities to obtain
ownership interest in the Company and to
further motivate and give incentives to these
Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to
the long term success and prosperity of the
Group or Invested Entities.
TZENRBERERERBEZAERAL(E
ERTOUREEIE R EEHE T EAKE
NABBERIERZEMER(IREER])
BEEZANER BERHEESESER
ALTBBARRzHEREER  REREYH
AEEFREBRZERMELERTR
WiE— BB RBMZECERATEER
AEESKREER  REKNELER °

Any employee (whether full time or part
time), senior executive or officer, manager,
director (including executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive director) or
consultant of any members of the Group or
any Invested Entity who, in the sole discretion
of the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of
the Group or any Invested Entity.
EREIRNERRTMELHESHERE
EEREERB ERIERIELERZ
AEEBETEAMKERFIREER 2R
YFRBEES SRITHABHETEAE - &
B EX(AENTES  FRTEZRBY
FEMITES )M -
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The purposes are to provide incentives and
rewards to those who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations.
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Eligible participants of the Old Option Scheme
include, among others, any employee of the
Group (including any Director of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries) and those companies in
the equity share capital of which the Company,
directly or indirectly, had a 20 percent of greater
beneficial interest but excluding the Company’s
subsidiaries.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

BT 8w

New Option Scheme

B RES S

Old Option Scheme
EBRRETE

(c) Maximum number of The total number of shares of the Company
shares available for ~ available for issue under the New Option

issue Scheme is 76,353,475 shares which

AEETID 2 &S represent 10% of the issued share capital of

g the Company as at the date of this Annual
Report.

RIBEFN BRI HET 2 AR RO R
#A76,353,4750% + HER AR R R ARF R
HEIZ B EITIRALI10% ©

(d) Maximum entitlement The total number of shares of the Company

of each Eligible issued and to be issued upon exercise of
Person options (whether exercised or outstanding)
BEBR AT ZE&SE granted in any 12-month period to:

PR%8 REH 2 EF+ @A EE - TEREREE

i (TmBRITERHEARTTR) KT
K FHEITZ AR BB AR :

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue;
BHREBBATMEHEBRAAIEEITR

1%

(i) a substantial shareholder or an
Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company must not exceed 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue and not
exceed HK$5 million in aggregate value.
TERMRAARABLERTESED
FHARQABEETRMGH1%REE

5,000,000/ 7T °

(e) Period within which  An option must be exercised within 10 years
the shares must be ~ from the date on which it is granted or such
taken up under an shorter period as the Board may specify at

option the time of grant.

REBEEARBR BREANRLBEHENOFNESTS AL
0 2 HifE] IR R R IR 2 BRI A TE

() Minimum period, if At the time of the grant of an option, the
any, for which an Board must specify the minimum period(s), if
option must be held  any, for which an option must be held before

AR S HE it can be exercised.
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The maximum number of ordinary shares might
be granted under the Old Option Scheme cannot
exceed 18,254,446 ordinary shares and this Old
Option Scheme has been terminated on 27th
May 2008.
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2B T5H8iB18,254, 4460 EimAR - it EREAKE
FEIER=ZEENFREATHEAKIE-

The total number of shares of the Company

issued and to be issued upon exercise of options

(whether exercised or outstanding) granted in

any 12-month period to:

R 2 A+ —E A HARE - (TR R AR e
(TmBEBITEREAITR) FEHETRETE

T2 AR RIRDAEEL :

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue;
BRAERATTEBANAREETRD
1% ;

(i) a substantial shareholder or an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company
must not exceed 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue and not exceed HK$5
million in aggregate value.
FERRKAR BB IENITEETEER
AAEBEITR7D0.1% & 42E5,000,0007%
5T o

An option must be exercised within 10 years
from the date on which it is deemed to have
been granted.

BRREZANR L B R0 FRTTRE

An option might be exercised subject to the
minimum period, if any, specified in the terms of
grant.

BRER B AN HRRGTR 2 &R (10F)
MTTHE °

ERIMEER(ZR) BRATD-EZNFFR
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

BT 8 (m)

New Option Scheme

Bk &

Old Option Scheme
ERREE

@)

U

Period open for
acceptance of an
option and amount
payable upon
acceptance
BEANBB AR 2 BABR LA
RENSEN &5

Basis of determining
the subscription
price of an option

RS
e

Remaining life

PR T

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain
open for acceptance for a period of 10
business days from the date of offer and a
consideration of HK$1.0 must be paid upon
acceptance.

REFXL 2 BRER BRE B R HEE
¥ BHAMAAIEER - ERRAS .08 T
HKIE -

The exercise price must be at least the higher
of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date of grant; (i) the average closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (i) the nominal value of a share.

TREEARIRUTERE  (RHNEKLER
M ME ARERMIKTE : ()RH
SENRE B HAT A EE X R ERRMEH
HERMIITFIIWTIE KRN EE -

The New Option Scheme has a life of 10
years and will expire on 27th May 2018 unless
otherwise terminated in accordance with the
terms of the New Option Scheme.

RB BT B 2 IRR - BRIESTTRIE -
BRIFBERESEFHATF R T
—N\EFERA=-F+LHER -

An offer of the specified grant of share options
would be deemed to have been accepted when
the counterpart of the offer and acceptance
letter is duly signed by the grantee together
with a remittance in favour of the Company
in the amount specified in the offer, being the
consideration for the grant of the option, is
received by the Company at the place specified
in the option agreement within 28 days from
the date of the offer or such other period as the
Board may specify in writing.
EARAEAZBREEZRREARG - AR
B EZ B RET8HANESE A e A EH
B ZEMBEA - AAREERERZIETEZ
BB MEEMTAUR AR RXmAZNK
BB ERERE) R  REBREZES
TR R o

The exercise price of the option shall be
determined by the Board, provided that it would
not be less than the higher of: (i) the closing price
of the Company’s ordinary shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of option, which must be a
business day; (i) the average of the closing share
price of the Company’s ordinary share as stated
in the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the ordinary shares of the
Company.

BRETEEHEFSET AP RATR
2E (AR RIEBERNERERLERB(LEAE
REER BB RREBRMATIMHE : (i)
R BE BT B R B HIAT L 4 5 B A
RETATSFHUTRIE ¢ R(i)AA R EBREE

The Old Option Scheme was terminated on 27th
May 2008.
EEREFIEN_EZNFAA=-TLEHAK
JJ: o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

No option has been granted by the Company under the Old
Option Scheme since inception up to its termination on 27th
May 2008.

No options had been granted by the Company under the
New Option Scheme since inception up to the year ended
31st December 2008.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31st December 2008, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”))
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
adopted by the Company were as follows:

()  Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company:

BB REST & ()
HEBREAZHBZER _ZE\FRA-++HHKIE
B ANRE)IER R E AT HE o

SRR R ERE SR \E+ A=+ —RAILE
R 7R IR A (TR

ESRESF 2 ER

RIBZNF+-A=+—0  FEBSRAEARREETEHA
BERARAHEEMAEBZE(EEREF BB &P ([E
7 MERERDI ) ) EXVERZ B fn - AR REZTHEEE
RO A& 5 MG IR DI 352 (R R E F B M B et 2 s Kok
B HRBARAERM 2 ETAR RIS+ PR EHETAE
FETEFRXHNRETA([RETR D RERMNEARAF
KBS P2 ez BORB AT

()  RARERGRIGEBRIZLFE

Approximate
percentage of

the existing issued
share capital

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of Shares of the Company

EARDTERE

2EITRA

EEnE EmtE RMEE SN d

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (“Mr. OEI”) Corporate 572,598,298Note (i) 74.99%
ERIEE(EERE]D NC]

Note: The above corporate interest represents an interest
in 572,598,298 shares held by HKC in the Company.
Since HKC is held as to approximately 35.187% by
Creator Holdings Limited, a company wholly-owned
by Mr. OEl, he is deemed to be interested in the same
parcel of shares in which HKC is taken to be interested
in the Company.

MisE © Bl QA RESIER SRR AR B FTiF572,598,298%
Dz - AR BELEZEEARAIZEEBARA
B A BB RRNB5187% R - MEALEHEAR
E—HARAREEREEES 2 BBERROPHEE

<

Bl

ERIMEER(ZR) BRATD-EZNFFR
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

associated corporation of the Company:

BEENRE2ESZ@
(i) AL G LB R (5 R IR (5.2 47 & -

Approximate
percentage of

the existing issued
share capital of

Name of the associated
associated corporation Name of Director Nature of interest Number of Shares corporation
LHEEBIRE
EBITRAR
HECEE B BEpnR REMtE BRiDEE L E SR
HKC (Holdings) Mr. OEl Personal 192,940,410° 2.337%
Limited (“HKC”) "EE fEA
BB ER(ER) Corporate 3,393,811,5902 41.113%
BRAT NG|
([&BRR]) Joint 10,916,7358 0.132%
HA
Family 3,000,000¢ 0.036%
BN
Mr. TSANG Sai Chung, Personal 17,687,6425 0.214%
Kirk (“Mr. TSANG”) fAA
AR EE(GEED
Mr. CHAN Kwok Fong, Personal 13,000,0008 0.157%
Joseph (“Mr. CHAN?) fAA
BREUF A ([BREAE D)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Personal 5,200,0007 0.063%
Samuel (“Mr. LEUNG”) A
RERFE([RKE]
Mr. LIU Zhixin (“Mr. LIU") Personal 14,528,5138 0.103%
BFFEE(RRED A
Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ermnest Personal 43,729° 0.001%
(“Mr. TANG”)
BB EE(TE LA A
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued) EEREFH 2 5 @)

in 41,729 shares of HKC and an interest in 2,000
underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by HKC.

Notes: BfsE
The personal interest of Mr. OEI represents an interest in 1. BEEEZEAESEREBER172,673,1000K % 2
172,673,100 shares of HKC, an interest in 17,267,310 s BMBEBRBAETRRERZBM 217,267,310
underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by HKC AXAE A AR 1 M 2 o T ST PTRIl 5 78 2 BR P 4% H s R e
and an interest in 3,000,000 underlying shares in respect #8,2.3,000,0008% HBAR% (5 #E 25 ©
of options granted by HKC as detailed below.
The corporate interest of Mr. OEI represents an interest 2. BWhREZARE=IE 75 32 7% 2,904,637,037 A& A%
in 2,904,637,037 shares of HKC and an interest in s - BEEBER FJ’T?&TTHEEE\%E BB
278,443,244 underlying shares in respect of warrants BrelEEBARAR([BIZE NEE AR EZTERA
issued by HKC held by Creator Holdings Limited 2.278,443 244 R BB (H Rz - LA KR FN191,573,918
(“Creator”), a company beneficially and wholly owned BREBEREROZ2EZR  EHEBEXRMAETEA=
by Mr. OEIl, and an interest in 191,573,918 shares of FERBZEFRELZT(EKXR]) & BHEBS0%E
HKC and an interest in 19,157,391 underlying shares NoHAEEARAT([EA DEE 2 AREE Y
in respect of warrants issued by HKC held by Genesis 19,157,391 iR R I (D #E s ©
Capital Group Limited (“Genesis”), a company owned as
to 50% by Mr. OEl and as to the remaining 50% by his
wife, Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau (“Mrs. OEI").
The joint interest of Mr. OEI represents an interest in 3. %?ﬁiz L[R5 B B R 5,454,305 % A% 17 2 1
5,454,305 shares of HKC and an interest in 5,462,430 C AR AR ﬁﬁ?é‘?ﬂ?ﬁx%ﬁﬁﬁﬁZS 462,430
underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by HKC Hx*ﬁ B GOER  MERMBAFEESE FE KRR
jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEI. A o
The family interest of Mr. OEIl represents an interest 4, BEEZRGESEEBESRBRTEAZERESH
in 3,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options 23,000,000 FEREAZ 15 #E 2% o
granted by HKC to Mrs. OEl.
The personal interest of Mr. TSANG represents an 5. B AZEAREZRIER2,507,3028 BB EERR D 2 &
interest in 2,507,302 shares of HKC, an interest in o EEBERTEITRREE B M2 180,340 107
180,340 underlying shares in respect of warrants issued PRipiEes - AR R XFTRFl BB IR R FTIR H BB AR
by HKC and an interest in 15,000,000 underlying shares B R”3.215,000,000R%FHREAR (A HE =S ©
in respect of options granted by HKC as detailed below.
The personal interest of Mr. CHAN represents an interest 6. PBRAEAZEAAREZRIERE T XATFREBZEZMRH
in 13,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options FEPEHE S 8 2 13,000,000 A% FE B A (D #E 25 ©
granted by HKC as detailed below.
The personal interest of Mr. LEUNG represents an 7. REAZEAAERERETXAFRBSEZMEN
interest in 5,200,000 underlying shares in respect of BN IE G B8 2 5,200,000 AE BER% 1D 1 %5 ©
options granted by HKC as detailed below.
The personal interest of Mr. LIU represents an interest 8. %Uf‘ﬁiZf/\%E?EF%%E&LG 723,978 fx 15 2 1
in 6,723,978 shares of HKC, an interest in 304,535 Eﬁ%i%@f&ﬁﬁé’*ﬁu %A 5 A B 2 304,535 1% 1 E
underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by HKC fo wmRRET XA BBRERMREERES
and an interest in 7,500,000 underlying shares in respect EﬁZ?,SO0,000HﬂHEEHﬂﬁ%ﬁ& o
of options granted by HKC as detailed below.
The personal interest of Mr. TANG represents an interest 9. EEEZEAERIENREBERM 720D 2 e

N B SRR T B 1T SR AR #E 75 8 4 2 2,000 % 4B BA A% 19
MRS o

ERIMEER(ZR) BRATD-EZNFFR
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued) @ZERBEHZER @
(i) Interest in share options of associated corporation of (i) KR A EERERES e -
the Company:

Share options granted under the share option scheme BER-EENENA T NBEAZ BB EREREST
of HKC adopted on 16th June 2006. B H 2 AR -
Number of

share options
outstanding at

Nature of 31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
(HK$)
R=ZFN\F
+ZB=+—8H
RTERZ
i EREE BRERA R A E 1T BRTEE
()
Mr. OFEl Personal 562,500 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1.420
mhAE A ZEEF+A+HA 14th December 2016
“TE+F+-_A+HAZE
—E—R"E+ZA+mA
937,500 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1.420
—ETRETZA+AA 14th December 2016
“ZEN\F+_A+HAZE
—E—R"E+ZA+mA
300,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
—TTN\E=-H—H 31st January 2018
“ETANF-_A—HE
—E-)\&—A=+—H
450,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1.656
—TTN\E=H—H 31st January 2018
Sl e =
—E-)\F—A=+—H
750,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1.656
—TTN\F=H—H 31st January 2018
e =
—E-)\F—A=+—H
Mr. OEl Family 562,500 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1.420
oy Rk ZEEF+=A+HA 14th December 2016
“TE+F+-_A+HAZE
—E—R"E+ZA+mA
937,500 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1.420
—ETRETZA+AA 14th December 2016
“ZENF+_A+HAZE
ZE—R"E+ZA+mA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued) @EERHEH 2R @)
(i) Interest in share options of associated corporation of (i) RN A EEERES #25 © (4)

the Company: (continued)

Number of
share options
outstanding at

Nature of 31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
(HK$)
R=FZN\F
+=A=+-A
RITEZ
e ERtE BREHE i A 1718 BRITEE
(&)
Mr. OEl Family 300,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
|mEA REE —TEN\F-A—H 31st January 2018
—EENF-_F—HZE
—E-NE&—A=+—H
450,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1.656
—ETN\F-_H—H 31st January 2018
—F-FF-A—-RE
—E-NE&—A=+—H
750,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1.656
—ETN\F-_H—H 31st January 2018
—E——%_H—-RZE
—E-N&—A=+—-H
Mr. TSANG Personal 2,000,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1.420
bt f&A —ETXRE+-A+AH 14th December 2016
“ETHHE+-ATHAE
ZE—RE+ZA+THMA
5,000,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1.420
—EERE+-A+AR 14th December 2016
“ZEZ)\F+-ATHAE
ZE—RE+ZA+THMA
1,600,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
—ETN\F-_H—H 31st January 2018
—EENF-_F—HZE
—E-NE&—A=+—H
2,400,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1.656
—ETN\F_-_H—H 31st January 2018
—E-TFE_H-RZE
—E-N\E&—A=+—H
4,000,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1.656

—EFN\F_A—H

31st January 2018
—F-——%-A-R=
—E-N\E&—A=+—H

ERIMEER(ZR) BRATD-EZNFFR
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

(i) Interest in share options of associated corporation of
the Company: (continued)

BEENRE2ESZ@
(i) R EIIGH L EERIES e © (8)

Number of
share options
outstanding at

Nature of 31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
(HK$)
R=ZZN\F
+=A=+-A
RITEZ
H"E ERtE BREHE R B E 1718 BRITEE
(&)
Mr. CHAN Personal 1,000,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1.420
BREAE fAA —ETXRE+-A+AH 14th December 2016
ZEE+E+ZA+ABZE
ZE—RE+ZA+HMA
1,500,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1.420
—EERE+=-A+EA 14th December 2016
“ZEZ\F+-ATHAE
ZE—ARE+ZA+WMA
2,500,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2009 to 1.420
—EERE+=-A+EA 14th December 2016
“ZETNF+ZATHAE
ZE—R"E+ZA+HMA
1,600,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
—TEN\F-H-H 31st January 2018
—TENF-_A—HZE
—E-N\E—A=+—H
2,400,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1.656
—TTN\F-H-H 31st January 2018
e i
—E-N\E—A=+—H
4,000,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1.656
—TTN\F=-H-H 31st January 2018
—E——%_H—-RZE
—E-N\E—A=+—H
Mr. LEUNG Personal 1,200,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1.420
R fAaA —ETXRE+-A+AH 14th December 2016
“ETHE+-ATHAE
ZE—ARE+ZA+HMA
2,000,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1.420

“EEAFT-ATEA

14th December 2016
“ET)\F+-A+HAZE
TR Ft+-A+mAH
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)

(i) Interest in share options of associated corporation of

the Company: (continued)

EERNEBESF2ER@®
(i)  RAEL I LEE RIS ¢ ()

Number of
share options
outstanding at

Nature of 31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
(HK$)
RZBENF
+t=A=t+—-H
RITEZ
e ERtE BREHE i A 1718 BRITEE
(&)
Mr. LEUNG Personal 400,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
R EPN —TENF-A—H 31st January 2018
“ZENFE-_A—HBHZE
—Z-\F—A=+—H
600,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1.656
—TEN\F=-H—H 31st January 2018
Sl =
- \F—RA=1+—H
1,000,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1.656
—ETN\F-_H—H 31st January 2018
—T—%_"_A—-H%
- N\F—H=1+—H
Mr. LIU Personal 1,800,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1.420
Pt EA —EERE+-A+HA 14th December 2016
“TE+F+-_A+HAZE
—E-RF+=ZATHEA
3,000,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1.420
ZEERF+=A+HA 14th December 2016
“ZZ\F+=-ATHAZE
ZE—RE+ZA+HMA
540,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
T N\E=-HA—H 31st January 2018
“ZEENF-_A—HBHE
—E-)\F—A=+—H
810,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1.656
—TTN\F=-H—H 31st January 2018
Sl s =
—E-N\F—A=+—-H
1,350,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1.656
—ZEZ)\F=-RA—H 31st January 2018

—F—%ZA-R=
—2—\$—A=t+-~

Note: The closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the options granted on 1st February

2008 was HK$1.630.

EBHER(EZR) BRAT ==

Miet: Z2EEREREAH-_ZTN\F-_A—HAIARAR
AUT{E R1.630/8 7T °

B VEEH
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2008, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained
in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that enabled the Directors of the Company
or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Mr. ZHANG Songyi is the shareholder and the director of
GCL Silicon Technology Holdings Inc. which is engaged in
alternative energy business.

Having considered that the Company itself has its own
management supervising the daily operation and making
financial and business decisions, the Company can operate
its business independently of, and at arm’s length from the
business of GCL Silicon Technology Holdings Inc.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their
respective associate(s) was interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

EENBEZERZ®

BREXEREN  RZZEZENGF+ZA=1T—80 " figE=
HARBEBITRABRARQ RIS EE BB EZE(EER
B M EEIEFIEXVED) 2 ARG © BERG REHFTE#E
BEEREENMEIENEI52168 EFE N ELM 2 &M
BmIOAR - RE EMARRIFTEIRET AR EBME AN
A MBI RE R SR A o

EEREROIES 2EF

B EXREEI  RAFREMERE - KRR SEERNE
RABET AL BEA AR EF R EFRE <ALBX
185R A N F R AT FERE AR R B SR E A)E A 188 2 B fn =
B °

EERNEREGHNzER

RERFFENEMERE - AR T E M B R B EET 7 A
EXERYRRBAEARGZEREL -

EEEBRFRE 2R

3R A8 % 7t 4 AGCL Silicon Technology Holdings Inc. 2 B &
EE - ZARINREERERES -

ERARRRBAGZEREARETAREHEREUR
ELF B REBFERK - WARA 2 EBEFERBLNGCL

Silicon Technology Holdings Inc. °

BREXEEEN  EFHEEFZAZHBATREREEGRIA
KA REH AR E XS B R KR BAE T 2 5 -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

At 31st December 2008, the following persons (other than
a director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company

TERRRESF 2 ES
R-ZZENF+A=+—H UTAL(EFHAAFE

ZITBA BRRIMNRAR R Z Bty KB A E LR
&7 MR DI B3R EFENB M BEIRE

RAXFARGREBRG 2FR

Approximate
percentage of existing
issued share capital

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Number of shares of the Company

EAARRES
BATIRAR

LYt RESME R EE WEDH

HKC Beneficial owner 572,598,298 74.99%

BEEER ERBEAA

Creator Corporate 572,598,2981 74.99%

BlE NG|

Mrs. OEI Family 572,598,2982 74.99%

A ENI

Notes: Bt

1. Creator is beneficially interested in 35.187% of the issued
share capital of HKC and thus, is deemed to be interested in
the same parcel of shares in which HKC is interested.

2.  Mrs. OEl is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of
shares in which Mr. OEl is taken to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2008, the
Company had not been notified by any person, other than
directors and chief executive of the Company, who had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which are required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of Part XV
of the SFO.

1. BIEESEEREREREBITRAZ35.187% s © FULHKE
RNEBEREEG 2RI RAES

2. BEABWERNEREWERES 2R 4D G

BREXHEEN R_TTN\FT_A=1—H AQAAL
TAFEEMAL(RARREEREZTHRABRINRAR
Az B fn MR A B LN E 5 I IRGIEXVERE
3B6IEMEFERE M 2 ERIOKR -

ERIMEER(ZR) BRATD-EZNFFR
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
On 14th August 2008, the Group entered into an Agreement
for Office Space and Services Provision with HKC, in relation
to the granting of a license to occupy and use the office
space and the provision of management services by HKC to
the Group, and the sharing of administrative expenses for the
period from 1st August 2008 to 31st December 2010.

The entering into of the Agreement for Office Space and
Services Provision and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitute continuing connected transactions
(“Continuing Connected Transactions”) of the Company
under Rule 14A.14 of the Listing Rules, of which the granting
of the license and the provision of the management services
are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
under the Listing Rules. The annual caps for the granting of
the license and the provision of the management services
under the Agreement for Office Space and Services Provision
in respect of the year ended 31st December 2008 are
HK$606,000 and HK$1,493,000 respectively.

Opinion from the Independent Non-executive
Directors on the continuing connected transactions
In accordance with rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed and approved the Continuing Connected
Transactions and confirmed that the Continuing Connected
Transactions were carried out in accordance with the
following principles:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms no less favourable than
terms available from independent third parties;

(c) in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreement
governing the Continuing Connected Transactions; and

(d) on a fair and reasonable basis and in the interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Report from the auditor on the continuing
connected transactions

In accordance with rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the Company, has
performed certain agreed upon procedures in respect of the
Continuing Connected Transactions and reported that the
transactions entered into:

(@ were approved by the Board of the Company;
(b) have been carried out in accordance with the terms
of the relevant agreement governing the Continuing

Connected Transactions; and

(c) have not exceeded the relevant annual caps.

FEBRERS

RZZZNFNATHIE @ AEEEFBERIHAEL
BRRBGHEERE © WA EERE SRR M AL B HET
#UR—EEN\FNA—BE-_ZT—ZTF+-_F=+—H
HREMER RERNAE MREEERE AR D EITEHAY °

RIEETRAE14AA4E - ST HAE A RRIS HFER
ERBHEET R GEBRARRZIFERER 5 ([FER
ERS)  HPREETrRERIEEEEREAET EmRA
ZHBEAERTE REE_TENF+_A=+—HIF
& MAEHARREHERZE MR H SR RIRHERE
7% 2 FZ R % Rl A606,000/8 7T & 1,493,000/ 7T

BYFSTESHRERERZ 22X

RIE ERAIE14ASTE - ARABILFRTEESEN
BALESBRIER S - LRRHEMER S A TRAE
7

@ AREE—RREFER

b) TERBE= iR, —REEER

© BESSHENDRSABRHRER R

@) BAFABSEHFARRARREBREEF. -
AR ERERS 2 RBERE

1845 ERBIZ14A 3616 - AR TR SR A S E

EBFERERRER I TS THTER - THEXH T
AT ERATE :

(© AIEBBHAMFELR -

HONG KONG ENERGY (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008



MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

Apart from the Agreement for Office Space and Services
Provision dated 14th August 2008 described under
“Continuing Connected Transactions” above and in note
27(a) to the consolidated financial statements, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group had 4 customers only and the
percentages of the Group’s sales attributable to the major
customers are as follows:

Sales
— The largest customer 96%
— Four largest customers in aggregate 100%

The Group purchases less than 30% of its goods and
services from its 5 largest suppliers for the year.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any interest in the Group’s four largest customers noted
above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during
the year ended 31st December 2008.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 25.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Specified employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information
of the Group are also subject to compliance with guidelines
on no less exacting terms than the Model Code. A Code for
Securities Dealings by Employees has also been adopted in
this regard.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of more
than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

REVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company comprises three
independent non-executive directors with written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules, and reports to the Board. The audit committee has
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31st December 2008.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
financial years ended 31st December 2005, 2006 and 2007
were audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“DTT”),
the former auditor of the Company. DTT retired and did not
seek for re-appointment at 2008 annual general meeting.
Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers, were appointed as auditor
of the Company at 2008 annual general meeting to fill the
casual vacancy until the next annual general meeting the
Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31st December 2008 have been audited by Messrs.
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the
reappointment of Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers as
auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

OEI Kang, Eric
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15th April 2009
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B AR E

PRICEWATERHOUSE( COPERS

BORKEGTMER

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

HONG KONG ENERGY (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS

J.I.C. TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED)
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 51 to
115, which comprise the consolidated and company balance
sheets as at 31st December 2008, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
of the Group as at 31st December 2008 and of the Group’s
loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 15th April 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
meEaR

For the year ended 31st December 2008
HE_ZT)\F+-_A=t—HItFE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total
BEEE EEIEET @5t
ﬁ ﬁ
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
—22)\F |=25tF |-220\F |Z55HE |2220E |Z25tE
Note HK$'000 | HK$000 | HK$000 | HK$000 | HK$O000 | HKS000
Bt zE TET TET L THET THET THET
Revenues ey 5 13,877 - - | 654,010 13,877 | 654,010
Cost of sales HERA 7 (5,889) - - | (581,641) (5,889)] (581,641)
Gross profit E3 7,988 - - 72,369 7,988 72,369
Selling and distribution costs ~ $5& R KA 7 (2,914) (1,161) - (11,988) (2,914)]  (13,149)
Administrative expenses TRER 7 (50,964)|  (12,752) - (34,533) | (50,964)|  (47,285)
Other expenses HiER 6 (58,694) - - - (58,694) -
Operating (loss)/profit EE(BR) /i (104,584)]  (13,913) - 25,848 | (104,584) 11,935
Finance income FHEHA 8 3,074 21 - 207 3,074 228
Finance costs AR A 8 (160) (1,007) - (2,505) (160) (3,512)
Finance income/(costs) —net B /(BB RA)
— %8 8 2,914 (986) - (2,298) 2,914 (3,284)
Share of loss of an associated &G — Bt & A B E1E
company - (909) - - - (909)
(Loss)/profit before income tax  Fi{5Hi a1 (E518) /% (101,670))  (15,808) - 23,550 | (101,670) 7,742
Income tax credit e T 11 6,963 - - 10,903 6,963 10,903
(Loss)/profit after income tax  Fi{g#Hi1& (#548) /7 (94,707)]  (15,808) - 34,453 (94,707) 18,645
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 1 EME A AlE - - -| 209817 - | 209817
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE(BE) /B (94,707) (15,808) - 244,270 (94,707) 228,462
Attributable to: VAT RESS
Equity holders of the Company ~ AR RIRRREZRHE A (89,720)]  (15,808) - | 244270 (89,720)] 228,462
Minority interest DYRR R (4,987) - - - (4,987) -
(94,707)|  (15,808) - 244270 (94,707)| 228,462
Dividends i35, 14 - - - - - -
(Loss)/earnings per share Shk(EE) /B (EWL)
(HK cents) - Basic -BRRIEE
and diluted 13 (11.75) (2.07) - 31.99 (11.75) 29.92
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

heEERER

As at 31st December 2008
R=EENF+=-—A=1+—H

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Other intangible assets
Goodwiill

Deferred income tax assets

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Tax recoverable

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Share capital

Reserves

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company

Minority interest

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
Current liabilities

Other payables

Current income tax liabilities
Borrowings

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities
Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

HONG KONG ENERGY (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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Note
FI5E

15
16
17
24

19

20

21
22

24

25

23

ﬁ
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETEF
HK$000 HK$’'000
BT FET
762 1,785
35,557 30,849
- 42,044
203 -
36,522 74,678
2,383 2,431
- 345
289,095 344,558
291,478 347,334
328,000 422,012
7,635 7,635
301,176 389,811
308,811 397,446
13,913 -
322,724 397,446
1,709 7,414
3,520 7,362
a7 1,210
- 8,580
3,567 17,152
5,276 24,566
328,000 422,012
287,911 330,182
324,433 404,860




BALANCE SHEET
EERER

As at 31st December 2008
N2 N\F+_HA=1+—H

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries, net

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Other receivables

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Share capital

Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Other payables

Borrowings

Total current liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

BE

FRBEE

ME - W RE
ISP =k ]

FRBEELR

mENEE

HAtb FE YR

JRE W Bt /B8 2 R FRIR
FEUK[R) 22 Y 188 2 ) 0R
RekBReSFED

mENBELEE
EERE

iz
FATEDFAEA
FEGAR A R iR
[EEN
G

4B

B

mEEE

JEA BB X B3R IR
H A K

tEmx

nENE LR
En kB EEE

Note
BsE

15
18

19
18

20

21
22

18
25
23

—
2008 2007
—zEnE | —ETiA
HK$'000 HK$’000
THT THT
- 73

24,823 82,623
24,823 82,696
157 270
42,777 -
- 109
257,742 327,267
300,676 327,646
325,499 410,342
7,635 7,635
249,570 322,470
257,205 330,105
66,836 67,250
1,458 4,407

- 8,580

68,294 80,237
325,499 410,342
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
e BER

For the year ended 31st December 2008
HE_ZT)\F+-_A=t—HItFE

Balance at 1st January 2007

Profit for the year

Total recognised income
for the year

Released upon disposal of
Subsidiaries

Balance at 31st December 2007

Balance at 1st January 2008

Transfer to retained eamings
Currency translation differences

Net income recognised
directly in equity
Loss for the year

Total recognised expense
for the year

Contribution from a minority
shareholder

Balance at 31st December 2008

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARAERRA AR

Special
Share Share  Goodwill  Exchange reserve  Retained Minority Total
capital  premium reserve reserve (Note)  earnings Total interest equity
e DERE Ba
RA RipRE FERE ELRE 0 (D REEN k] Ea k]
HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKE000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000
FEr TEr  FEr  TEr  FExr  FEr  TEr FEr TEn
i s
—f-B&% 7,635 175 (8,351) - (6,774) 176299 168,984 - 168,984
RERRA - - - - - 228462 228462 - 228462
FEECERZ
o8t - - - - - 228462 228,462 - 228462
HENBATBEE
- - 8,351 - - (8,351) - - -
WZZE+E+-A
=t-BEH 7,635 175 - - (6,774) 396410 397,446 - 397,446
R-TENE (" )
—A—H&# 7,635 175 - - (6,774) 396410 397,446 - 397,446
EREREAN - - - - 6,774 (6,774) - - -
ERREER - - - 1,085 - - 1,085 - 1,085
ERNERRERL
WAFE - - - 1,085 6,774 (6,774) 1,085 - 1,085
KEEBHE - - - - - (89720) (89,720)  (4,987)  (94,707)
KEECERZ
xR - - - 1,085 6,774  (96,494) (88,635)  (4,987)  (93,622)
DHRETE
- - - - - - - 18900 18,900
RZEENE+-A
—t-HE# 7,635 175 - 1,085 - 299916 308811 13913 322,724
\_ =/
Note: The special reserve of the Group represented the difference Mizr : AEEZEREEETKEREATROEAEREAARDE

between the nominal value of shares of subsidiaries acquired

and the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

= =B=
LERERER
For the year ended 31st December 2008
HE=EE/\F+-A=1—RLFE

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash (used in)/generated from operations
Income tax refunded, net

Net cash (used in)/generated
from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Acquisition of intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of machinery under installation
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of
cash acquired
Proceeds from
— disposal of subsidiaries
— disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Contribution from minority shareholders
Repayment of bank and other loans
Increase in new bank and other loans
Interest paid

Repayment to an associated company

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
as at 1st January

Exchange gains on cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
31st December
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BEEEY
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PR 34 U 28

R+-A=t+—HZBEER
REEEY

Note
BsE

28(a)

28(b) & ()

28(d) & (e)

2008

2007
—EEN\F Ik
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&TT FHET
(37,923) 68,523
241 3,530
(37,682) 72,053
2,979 228
(17,573) .
(179) (31,908)

- (3,893)

- (67,224)

- 346,922

93 -
(14,680) 244125
4,725 -
(8,580) (13,508)
- 19,837

(187) (3,512)

- (967)
(4,042) 1,850
(56,404) 318,028
344,558 26,530
941 -
289,095 344,558
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited (“the Company” or
“HKE”), formerly known as J.I.C. Technology Company
Limited, is an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability. Its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

On 10th April 2008, HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”),
a company incorporated in Bermuda and listed on the
Stock Exchange, acquired 74.99% of the shares of
HKE through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Noble Quest
Enterprises Limited, and HKC became the ultimate
holding company of the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”)
are principally engaged in alternative energy business
and software development business in 2008. The
Group has ceased and disposed of the manufacturing
and distribution of liquid crystal display (‘LCD”) on 31st
December 2007.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$
thousand or HK$'000), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved
for issue by the Board of Directors on 15th April 2009.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”). They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2 FESHBERMEMEwm)
2.1 RBEEE@m)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

ERE LM HREER R B RE - /,ﬁmﬁﬁ
TEAGEA - ERENAERAAEES
BB EH HIET ﬁf&fﬁ#ﬂ&ﬁi%‘%ﬁﬁ
MEE - EBREEAHEEVBEREBERY
BB M EARE -

In 2008, the Group adopted the following NZZEENFE  NEFEFEQN T EEERER 2
amendments which are relevant to its operations. 1&357 -

(@) Amendments effective in 2008

e HKAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: o BHEGIHEREIRIMTE : R
Recognition and measurement’, FErE | HeMEEET DB 2EF]
amendment on reclassification of AAETEREENFTAETEKRMSE - #

financial assets permits reclassification
of certain financial assets out of the
held-for-trading and available-for-sale
categories if specified conditions are
met. The related amendment to HKFRS
7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’,
introduces disclosure requirements with
respect to financial assets reclassified
out of the held-for-trading and available-
for-sale categories. The amendment
is effective prospectively from 1st July
2008. This amendment does not have
any impact on the Group’s financial
statements, as the Group does not have
such kind of financial assets.

(b) Interpretations effective in 2008 but not
relevant
The following interpretations to published
standards are mandatory for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1st January
2008 but are not relevant to the Group’s

(@) REBENFERZMER

[BEEE I R[AIHEE [ ERREHD

o BBV REENETRI &M
B 5 | 2 BRI S AB B 51E
BE M AHEHE | ERThENSES
MEEZHEERT - WHREFIEEHA
—EE)\FLA—HREEW - ARAE
B EpEemaE Eﬁ(lﬂ:ﬁf HEIZS
EEPBHRERT EL( A E

(b) g —ERN\FANERASEER 2R

THHEEMEAZREBER —FT ) N\F—
A—Rez &Rz ST HIRSHIRS - 8
BN 7 2E A

operations:
e HK(FRIC) - Int 11, “HKFRS 2 — Group o HEPBRUBHREREZES) 2E
and Treasury Share Transactions” FH BN EREERF 29 — £ EH
REFRNZS ]

e HK(FRIC) - Int 12, “Service Concession
Arrangements”

° HK(FRIC) — Int 14, “HKAS19 — The Limit
On a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and their
Interaction”

o FRE(ERMBHRERERES) —2E
255 ARAG AT 2Bk |

. %;%(llif’%ﬁﬁ&& REZEe) BB
F1AR BB LT ERIE109 — A ER
FEERE E—ﬁiﬁ\ %ﬁm&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
%]

ERIEER (ZR) BRATD-FZNFFR
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(c) Standards, amendments and

interpretations to existing standards that
are not yet effective for the year ended

2 FESTBERMEwm)

2.1 REEE @)

(c) B2=FEE/\E+-A=1T—-HLEFE

31st December 2008 and have not been

early adopted by the Group

New or revised standards, interpretations and amendments
AT EET AR - 2B RERNER]

HKAS 1 (Revised)

B ERE 15 (BT
HKAS 23 (Revised)
B ERE 23 (18R]
HKAS 27 (Revised)

B gt ERE27 (K1ERT)

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1
Amendments

BEA G ERERREREE
SEERE1SE (B4

HKAS 39 (amendment)

BEAGRTERIE3 (BRI A)
HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27
Amendments
BRNBMSERNE1RREE
SETERFE27I (BRI )
HKFRS 2 Amendment

BB IS ERI25% (IBET )

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

BB R E LR FEIREEET)

HKFRS 8

BB S A E85

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13

T8 (BEMBmERBEES)
—REE13%R

“Presentation of Financial Statements”
[ BTk 250
“Borrowing Costs”
[ &R AR
“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”
[ 456 R I8 B 75 ik
“Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liguidation”
[AohEem T AR ERMES AT

“Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement - Eligible hedged items”
[@@MTEA : BAKTE—a&REHIER |
“Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,

Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate”

[RERMEAR - AERBIREE QR ZKA]

“Share-based Payment Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations”
[ R AR 175k — B B Aokt Ke k8
“Business Combinations”
[R5E 6]
“Operating Segments”
g nE]
“Customer Loyalty Programmes”
[EERISFFAE]

EARERMARE I EE R RN %
R~ BRI RBBEA 228

Effective for
accounting

periods beginning
on or after
INVINER gt
e 2 Gt HI AR

1st January 2009
—22hF—A—A
1st January 2009
ZTTNF—H—H
1st July 2009
“TTAFLA-A
1st January 2009
ZETNF—H—H

1st July 2009
—EENFEA—H

1st January 2009
—ZETNF—H—H

1st January 2009
—ZETNF—H—H

1st July 2009
“TTAFLA-A
1st January 2009
ZZETNF—H—H
1st July 2008
ZEZN\FLH—H

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 “Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate” 1st January 2009

TE(ERMBRERELEEE) [FHERERS —EThF—-H—H
—REE155

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation” 1st October 2008

AR (ERVBHREREREE) (BN EBIREFE]

—REF165%
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

Standards, amendments and

interpretations to existing standards that
are not yet effective for the year ended

2 FESTBERMEwm)

2.1 REEE @)

(c) B2=FEE/\F+-A=+—-HLFE

31st December 2008 and have not been
early adopted by the Group (continued)

New or revised standards, interpretations and amendments
AT EET AR - R RERNER]

HK(FRIC)-Int 17

“Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners’

AR (ERMBHREREZES) (AEBADIKIBRASEE]

—R2EE17THR
HK(FRIC)-Int 18
BEA (BB BRERELZE
—2EE185%

s

“Transfers of Assets from Customers”

) [(REEPZEEEE]

Improvements to existing standards

RAERA 2

HKAS 1 Amendment
EBRDERE IR (BT A)
HKAS 16 Amendment
EEETERIZ165 (BR]A)
HKAS 19 Amendment
EBRIENE19R(ETA)
HKAS 20 Amendment

HAGFTERIE205E (BETA)
HKAS 23 Amendment
BAEGEERIFE235 (1857 A)
HKAS 27 Amendment
AT ERIB275(BETA)
HKAS 28 Amendment
BAEGEERIFE28% (1857 4)
HKAS 29 Amendment
HAGFTERIE295E (IBETA)
HKAS 31 Amendment
BAEGEERES1R(BETA)

“Presentation of Financial Statements”

[Bi TR 2]

“Property, Plant and Equipment”

(% BB Kkt

"Employee Benefits”

[ &7 ]

“Accounting for Government Grants and
Disclosure of Government Assistance”

(BB 2 &5t R IR R & B 2 5

“Borrowing Costs”

KEp %N

“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”

[frEe KB Bk

“Investments in Associates”

B s i d—wN=Il

“Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”

[BERRGED 2 MRS

“Interests in Joint Ventures”

[AE AR

EARERMASEENERERPNZE
Al - AT RBEEA 2B @)

Effective for
accounting

periods beginning
on or after
INVINER
A 2 Gt HI AR

1st July 2009
—EENFLA—H

1st July 2009
—EENFLEHA—H

1st January 2009
—ETNF—A—H
1st January 2009
—ETENF—H—H
1st January 2009
—ETNF—A—H
1st January 2009
—ETENF—H—H

1st January 2009
—EZhF—-HA—H
1st January 2009
—ZEZhF—H—H
1st January 2009
—EZhF—-HA—H
1st January 2009
—ZEZhF—H—H
1st January 2009
—EZhF—-HA—H

ERIEER (ZR) BRATD-FZNFFR
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c) Standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards that
are not yet effective for the year ended
31st December 2008 and have not been
early adopted by the Group (continued)

2 FESTBERMEwm)

21 wRBEEE @)
() B2—ZEZEN\F+-A=+—HLFE
MAREMMAEBIRIZERM 22
Al - BT RIRBEA 22 @)

Effective for

accounting
periods beginning
Improvements to existing standards on or after
RAERIZ B INVINER gt
e 2 Gt HI AR
HKAS 36 Amendment “Impairment of Assets” 1st January 2009
HEastERIE36HR(IEFTA) [EERE] —TTNF—H—H
HKAS 38 Amendment “Intangible Assets” 1st January 2009
HREGHEREIBFEFIR) [EEEE] —ZEThF-A—H
HKAS 39 Amendment “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” 1st January 2009
HEGHERIEIR(EFTA) [2RIA RN E] —TTNF—H—H
HKAS 40 Amendment “Investment Property” 1st January 2009
HREGHERE05E(EFTR)  [REWME] —ZEThF-A—H
HKAS 41 Amendment “Agriculture” 1st January 2009
EEGTEAEARUERTA) [RE] —ZETNF-A—H
HKFRS 5 Amendment “Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and 1st July 2009
B SR B B 59 Discontinued Operations” —EENF+A—H
(BRTA) [FEHEFRBEERERIEER]
Amendment to HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure — Improving 1st January 2009
BB TSRS AR TR Disclosures about Financial Instrument” —EENF—F—H
EHEN [ERTH : WE-SESRTAZIKRE]
Amendment to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 “Remeasurement of Embedded Derivatives and 1st July 2009
and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” —ZZ A4+ HA—H
HE(BERMEHRERELRZES) [EFAENETEATARERTIA
—REFIREB AR L HRKETE]
SFEIRIERT A
The Group has not early adopted the above RNEFWEIZEE N FAi R - 2ERHE DT&,@
standards, amendments and interpretations B BUReEiE NN S ER| - BT R EE

and is not yet in a position to state whether
substantial changes to the Group’s
accounting policies and presentation of the
financial statements will result.

HONG KONG ENERGY (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008

TUAREE NG I RSB RE 2R
FKEAEE -



2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries made up to 31st December.

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special
purpose entities) over which the Group
has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies generally accompanying
a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls
another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used
to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries
by the Group. The cost of an acquisition
is measured at the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange,
plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date, irrespective of the extent of any minority
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is
less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement (Note 2.6).

2 FESTBERMEwm)

2.2 mEEE
GAMBRRBEAATNREAENBATEE
T A=Z+t—HIEZHBEHRE -

(@)

HMEBATE

MEAR(BREERENER) RASEERE
RERMBREBEBRZ AR - BRAKE—
B R EBFBFORE - MR ITENATE
BEBERRENFELRZESNFEAKE
REEH S —RERTIAEE -

MEARNEZENEEREASEERES
E#RE AR - RIEFEKIEE AETHBES
NG

AR B AR & A B AR B TS 2 M
BRRI - WEBKARAEEE - FTE
TZBRATANFEESAEZBBERR S
EAMNATE  MEEEFEBREEEZK
Ko EREEAMERPWRBZAIHAEE -
FrEEREREREE  ARNBBE RRE
RNHAEELNIEE - MBAR MMERDE
PR AR o WRBAANHER AR SR B A AT URE
A EEREC A FEZERDIER
2 o HRBRANERTEBENB AR EES
BZRAYE  MEBEZRMERELRA RS
RATER(HE2.6) °
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary in the consolidated
financial statements to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less provision for impairment losses (Note 2.7).
The results of subsidiaries are accounted
by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating
transactions with minority interests as
transactions with parties external to the
Group. Disposals to minority interests result
in gains and losses for the Group that
are recorded in the consolidated income
statement. Purchases from minority interests
result in goodwill, being the difference
between the consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value
of net assets of the subsidiary.

2 FESTBERMEwm)

2.2 RE

(@)

(b)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(c)

Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over
which the Group has significant influence
but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associated
companies are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting and are initially
recognised at cost. The Group’s investment
in associated companies includes goodwill
(net of any accumulated impairment loss)
identified on acquisition (Note 2.6).

The Group’s share of its associated
companies’ post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post — acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associated company
equals or exceeds its interest in the associated
company, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associated company.

2 FESTBERMEwm)

2.2 HmEEE@)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(c) Associated companies (continued)
Unrealised gains on transactions between
the Group and its associated companies
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associated companies.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associated companies
have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses in associated
companies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

2.3 Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and
operation engaged in providing products or
services that are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other business
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a particular
economic environment that are subject to risks and
return that are different from those of segments
operating in other economic environments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting and operating activities, the Group has
determined that business segments be presented
as the primary reporting format and geographical
segments are presented as the secondary
reporting format.

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses.
Segment assets consist primarily of properties,
plant and equipment. Unallocated assets comprise
of deferred taxation and certain cash and cash
equivalents. Segment liabilities comprise operating
liabilities. Unallocated liabilities comprise items such
as taxation and borrowings. Capital expenditure
comprises additions to intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment. Revenue is based
on the region in which the customers are located.

HONG KONG ENERGY (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency
[tems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

2 FESTBERMEwm)

2.4 hEBRE
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(b)

(c)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

Group companies (continued)

(i) income and expenses for each
consolidated income statement are
translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised as a separate component of
equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of the net
investment in foreign operations are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded
in equity are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Property, plant and equipment

2 FESHBERMEMEwm)
2.5 W - HEERRE

Property, plant and equipment, comprising
leasehold improvement, plant and machinery,
motor vehicles and furniture, fixtures and equipment
are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method, to write
off their cost over their estimated useful lives or
remaining useful lives for those second-hand assets
and the estimated useful lives are as follows:

%% HELRECEBEMEERE - BERKE
2 BN REM  KERRE - RAERAR
REAMERRFIRER R - MEKABEER
ERWBEEREREMBAZMAX -

ME - BERREERERETENE - REF
AIERFHR - FEEZFERA] B F AR
HAA - ARG AERFREIT

Leasehold improvements 5 years MEMEERE 5%
Plant and machinery 510 10 years JF%%&%% 5Z210%F
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years R~ B L& 5%
Motor vehicles 5 years RE 5%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying
amount of the asset or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated will flow to
the Group and the cost of item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged in the consolidated income statement
during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within other income/expenses
in the consolidated income statement.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost
of an acquisition over the fair value of the
Group’s share of net identifiable assets of the
acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is
included in intangible assets. Separately
recognised goodwill is tested for impairment
at every reporting date based on the higher
of value in use and fair value less costs to
sell. The goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment
losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include
the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
for the purpose of impairment testing. The
allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash generating units that
are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose
identified according to operating segment.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The customer relations have
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful live of
5 years.

Software technology know-how

Software technology know-how acquired in
a business combination is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. The software
technology know-how has a finite useful
life and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful live of 5 years.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Intangible assets (continued)

(d) Biomass technology
Separately acquired biomass technology has
a finite useful life and is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment,
if any. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method over its estimated useful
lives of 5 years.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for
example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at each reporting date.

Financial asset

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss and loans and receivable. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial
assets were acquired. Management determine
the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition.

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are financial assets held for trading. A
financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term. Derivatives are classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Assets in this category are classified
as current assets.

2 FESTBERMEwm)

2.6

2.7

2.8

B EE@E)
(d) HE=¥EHA

ERESzEMERMERFHRAR - Wik
PR R AT RORE (A0 ) 51IBR - #3H Y
REMGHERFRARFARBRETHE -

RBARRFESHEEZRERE

ERERAEAFHEE(NEHE) BAHK -
BEASFETHENR -pLBEEEMS - AA
RBEHSHIENE R 8T A AR
mER - ETRERY - BEREESHEAR
Bl ¢ EERDRERE - JRESEEEEL
REEREERARERBEMERS ZEHE °
RAHZRER - BERR/NEM I IAD HPFRE
enE(AREELSEM)ETOM - HBBER
BN EE - NEEZ®HE MERREZ AT
TTIEETTERE

TREE

AEERESREED BN - WAV EERR
RINRA R ER LB - 7B ABFBEAR
MEEBNME - EREAEVIHERFRERLS
MEENDHE -

(a) BRAFPEEBERIGZEHEE

BRAFEERBERIIGCEREERFEER
BEREE - WRIEABAZIZENE
EHE  AIZEREERILERIDE - FRIE
BEEEH  BRATETESSBERFREER
B HWEREEDBRRDEE °

ERIEER (ZR) BRATD-FZNFFR

69



70

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.8 Financial asset (continued)

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are classified as
“trade and other receivables” and “cash and
cash equivalents” in the balance sheet. They
are included in current assets, except for
maturities greater than 12 months after the
balance sheet date. These are classified as
non-current assets.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are
expensed in the consolidated income statement.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership.

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
of the “financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss” category are presented in the consolidated
income statement within other income/expenses,
in the period in which they arise. Dividend income
from financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

For the purposes of assessing the fair value of
unlisted securities, the Group established fair value
by using valuation techniques. These include the
use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference
to other instruments that are substantially the
same, discounted cash flow analysis and option
pricing models, making maximum use of market
inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-
specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Trade and other receivables

210

Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment. A provision
for impairment of trade and other receivables
is established when there is objective evidence
that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of
the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of
the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default
or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days
overdue) are considered indicators that the trade
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. The amount of the provision is
recognised in the consolidated income statement
within other expenses. When a trade receivable
is uncollectible, it is written off against other
expenses in the consolidated income statement.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to other income in the
consolidated income statement.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

210

211

212

213

Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the balance sheet date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities on the balance sheet.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises
current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the
countries where the company’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

213

214

Current and deferred income tax (continued)
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Employee benefits

(@) Employee leaves entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance
sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14

215

216

Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Defined contribution plans
The Group operates a mandatory provident
fund scheme (“MPF”) and employee
pension schemes established by municipal
government in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) for the eligible employees in Hong
Kong and the PRC respectively.

The Group’s and the employees’
contributions to the MPF are complied to the
related statutory requirements. The Group
has no further payments obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF are expensed as
incurred and are not reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave MPF
prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is
available. The asset of MPF is held separately
from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount can be
made.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the
provision of services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of
business tax within the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

216 Revenue recognition (continued)
The Group recognises revenue when the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and specific criteria have been met for each of
the Group’s activities as described below. The
amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably
measurable until all contingencies relating to
the sale have been resolved. The Group bases
its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

() Revenue from provision for software
development service is recognised when the
services are rendered.

(i) Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

@iy Dividend income is recognised when the right
to receive payment is established.

217 Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

218 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. It can also be a present
obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

218 Contingent liabilities (continued)
A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow
occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then
be recognised as a provision.

219 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is recognised as a liability in the
Group’s financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s major financial
instruments include trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents and other payables.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes.

It is the policy of the Group not to enter into
derivative transactions for speculative purposes.

The Board of Directors focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Board of Directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

(@) Market risk
Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the US
Dollar.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(@)

(b)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have any
foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management of the Group monitors the
foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31st December 2008, if Renminbi had
strengthened by 5% against US dollar with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s
profit and net assets for the year would have
been approximately HK$185,000 (2007:
HK$532,000) lower.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in its cash
and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables.

The carrying amount of cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

To manage the credit risk associated with
cash and cash equivalents, most of the
deposits are mainly placed with certain state-
owned banks in the PRC which are high-
credit-quality financial institutions and banks
with high credit rankings in Hong Kong.

To manage the credit risk associated with
trade and other receivables, the Group
adopts risk control to assess the credit
quality, determine credit limits and approve
credits of the customer and debtors, taking
into accounts of their financial position and
past experience. The Group has monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(©)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group is mainly engaged in the
software development business and the
trade receivable is mainly derived from a
few major customers who have good credit
history. In order to minimise the credit risk,
management continuously monitor the
level of exposure to ensure that corrective
actions are taken promptly to lower the risk
exposure. Accordingly, the directors believe
that adequate credit provision has been made
during the year.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is
unable to meet its current obligations when
they fall due. The Group measures and
monitors its liquidity through the maintenance
of prudent ratio regarding to the liquidity
structure of the overall assets, liabilities, loans
and commitments of the Group. The Group
also maintains a conservative level of liquid
assets to ensure the availability of sufficient
cash flows to meet any unexpected and
material cash requirements in the course of
ordinary business.

Given the Group’s cash position as at 31st
December 2008, the Group is able to meet its
current obligations and capital commitments
which fall due within the next twelve months.
Apart from internal sources of funding, the
Group is actively seeking funds to finance its
future capital expenditure commitment from
external sources, such as bank financing, or,
if necessary, financial support from its parent
company. In addition, the timing on injecting
capital expenditure is under the control of the
Group.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities
at the balance sheet date. The table has been
drawn up with reference to the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group is required
to pay. Balances due within 12 months equal
their carrying balances as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

Group

At 31st December 2008
Other payables

At 31st December 2007
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

Company

At 31st December 2008
Other payables

At 31st December 2007
Borrowings
Other payables
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by reviewing the
capital structure. The capital structure of the
Group consists of debt and equity attributable to
equity holders of the Company, as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet. The Group considers
the cost and the risks associated with the capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, issue new shares or conduct
shares buy-back.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. The Group takes reference to
professional valuations where necessary and uses
a variety of methods and makes assumptions that
are based on market conditions existing at each
balance sheet date.

The carrying value less impairment provision of
trade and other receivables and the carrying value
of other payables approximate their fair values due
to their short maturities.

3
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimated impairment of intangible assets
The Group tests whether intangible assets have
suffered any impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable in accordance
with the accounting policy. The calculations use
pre-tax cash flow projections based on the next
five financial years.

Estimation in sales, profit margin (before interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation expenses) and
operating cash outflows are based on the business
unit’s past performance and management
expectations for future development of the market
and the business. The discount rates used are pre-
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
segments.

An impairment charge of HK$16,650,000 arose
in software development business during the
year, resulting in the carrying amount of the
Cash Generating Unit being written down to its
recoverable amount. If the budgeted profit margin
used in the value-in-use calculation for the software
development business had been 1% lower than
management’s estimates at 31st December
2008, the Group would have recognised a further
impairment of HK$528,000.

If the estimated pre-tax discount rate applied
to the discounted cash flows for the software
development business had been 1% higher than
management’s estimates, the Group would have
recognised a further impairment of HK$196,000.

E-PN- iRt cE] i

AR BRI (AT (0 B (B R AT i
HAEBBIIER TAREBATE 2 BA) - FRFEH RS
Bt -

AEELARIEL 2R B - BRBE SN2 E
HEHE S BABNERERAR - SR T —ANGF
EAERAEEAELREABEAR Y HH RER
Tt -

(a) BEEEZfLFHRE
REBEESHEE  EFMHXBEREDHBEREDER
REEAKDE ARESHERTVEERAGHRMT
MR EE TR - BRAARKAES BEFE 2B

RIREMEBTRAE -

HE OEMRCRMBME - BIR - TEREIHS
H) MEERSREREGBEMBERRNREE
BHMELEHARER ZBRAFE - MR
R SR] RRIBRA D BRI E R BRI AR o

AN S S5 B 5% 2 AR A B 52 16,650,000
B BYBRAELABUERENREE AT KWD
S METEEMFARESTEREMRKBZESR
HAREREEBR -_ZTTEN\F+_A=+—H
ZIEET 1% - REES MR — PR E528,0008
5T o

e R EBANIRIE &R AMFT AT IR
REREBEREZEET1% ' AEESHERE—DH
{E196,000/8 7T °
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(b) Estimated impairment of goodwill

(©)

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment, in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 2.7. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates.

An impairment charge of HK$42,044,000 arose
in the software development business during the
year, resulting in the carrying amount being written
down to its recoverable amount which is zero.

Fair value of a call and put option in
respect of an interest in a subsidiary
Pursuant to a technology transfer and co-operation
agreement (“agreement”) entered for a subsidiary
of the Group, the Group has an option to put, and
the minority shareholder of the subsidiary has an
option to call, a 10% interest in the subsidiary at a
consideration which varies with the party exercising
the option (“call and put option”). The call and
put option become effective after one year from
entering of the agreement, has no fixed expiry date
and is not traded in an active market. As at 31st
December 2008, the Group estimates the fair value
of the call and put option with reference to the fair
value of the subsidiary, the consideration and the
likelihood of exercising the call and put option, and
is of the view that the call and put option has an
insignificant fair value to the Group.

4 BREFEERHE @

(b) Bz MEFHRE

()

HONG KONG ENERGY (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008

AEEIREN 27 ALY BH B HABAD
R REE TR o R e B A B2 A
WE % B B B - RS EARA
B

RAFE
42,044,000 7T
EH(RIE) -

BHHRAEEBELRERX
BYREEMBRZE KA S

FRAR BB ARER 2RBE AL HE
NE¥E
REAEE—FHMBARMI L2 RMERELE
f”ETéz’J (T&ZW#])  ARBEREBEREME
NRIDBR R AR EERBNE QR 10%E5
RABRETTE B4 ([ SRRE M AROEHIME ) 2 /T 4005
N o RBLRREHRRFT LZ SRR —F4E
Mo WEBEFEERA  BIFNERTSER - K
“EEN\F+A=+—RH  rEEZEHEAR
Az AE - RELRITERBRAGMEZ A
M EFRBRAGHEZATE  XRAR
BLREHREAKREZ AFEMNSLETERK -



4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Income taxes/deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for potential tax exposures based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will affect the income
tax and deferred tax provision in the period in
which such determination is made.

Allowances for bad and doubtful debts
The policy for allowance of bad and doubtful
debts of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and ageing analysis of receivables
and on management’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including
the creditworthiness and the past collection history
of each customer.

4 BREFEERHE @

(d) FriEHt IEAEBIE

(e)

AEERZERDERRBBEMSHERN - BE
FIEHBERTIELRERHE - REEXKBE
B ARG RFAEZHETIRRGEERE
o ARERBEDBEIMIAR 2 ARt A
RARMZRARRAE - ERFFRZIERMK
HREENLHEZEEIR - BREEHZTERR
BEEMIAMEA . PrSH SR ET IR R -

RARN RIFARE A

REBZ RN RZRBETRTIRBERE T Z
ARERE KRR DT EARERE 2 HEE
T o ReHEFERIR 2 ZEEIRENE - AlF
HABHE  BEREBREFPZEEMBEWRT

ERHEER (ER) BRATD-FZNFFR

83



5 SEGMENT INFORMATION
(@) Primary reporting format

- business segments
Commencing from 1st January 2008, the Group
is organised into two main business segments:

alternative energy and software development.

The segment results for the years ended 31st

December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Revenues

Operating results
Unallocated expenses
Finance income/(costs) - net

Share of loss of an associated
company

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax credit

(Loss)/profit for the year

Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairment losses
- goodwill
- other intangible assets
Capital expenditure

ANERX

BN/ (RARA)
—F8

JelE—fRBE AR
B

iR (518),/
5

FISHER
REE(ER),/ E7

ik
8]
HEER
-HE
—HiBVEE
EARIX

5 HEER

(@) FE2HEK XK

E S5
BEBEDE

FEZDEEEWNT
( 2008 )
—TT)\F

“ZEZN\F-A—Bi%K AEELEREE
BB BARBER MR o

HE_ZTN\FR-_ZZLF+-_A=+—HB1It

2007
“FELE

Continuing Discontinued
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Continuing operations operations  operations
B HEEE DRIEER
Alternative Software Total LCD Total
energy development Group production Group
BRER HHRE AEEEH LCDEE FEEME
(Note i) (Note i)
(W) (FitaEi)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
- 13,877 13,877 - 654,010 654,010
(11,879) (66,728) (78,607) - 44,353 44,353
(25,977) (13,913) (18,505) (32,418)
2,914 (986) (2,298) (3,284)
- (909) - (909)
(101,670) (15,808) 23,550 7,742
6,963 - 10,903 10,903
(94,707) (15,808) 34,453 18,645
9 1,167 1,176 58 32,584 32,642
4,200 6,190 10,390 - - -
- 42,044 42,044 - - -
- 16,650 16,650 - - -
31,761 166 31,927 - 35,630 35,630
o



5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Primary reporting format

- business segments (continued)
Notes:

(i) On 24th September 2007, the Group entered
into a conditional sale and purchase agreement
to dispose the operation of LCD manufacturing
and distribution and it was completed on 31st
December 2007.

(i) The software development business was acquired
by the Group on 31st December 2007 .

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31st
December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Total segment assets DEHEEESE
Unallocated assets AOEEE
—cashand cash equivalents ~ —IR& RIREZHEY
— deferred income tax assets ~ —IBEEFERI G
Total assets BER=
Total segment liabilities HEBABESE
Unallocated liabilities AOEERE
— borrowings —1&%
- current income tax liabilties ~ —BNERFTERi & (&
— deferred income tax liabilites —EEFEF&E
Total liabilities BEESE

5 2EER @

(a) FEEHRFNX XKo@

W3

() MRZZTZLFAR-THHE  KEBETI—

HEEiHE
ERN-EZT

(i) AEBER-F
BRF -

SHE+-A=+—

(AESECS

CHELCDEBE M IHE X - BRIEIR
+EFZA=+—HZEK -

B Ui % B

R-ZEENFR_TZELF+ _A=+—HZH

TR

HEEMABGBWET :
( 31st December 2008 ) 31st December
—ZZ\5+-A=+-8 2007
“ERELF
t=A=t—H
Alternative Software Software
energy development Total development
BEHaeR RS st BRI
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTHET FAT FAET
43,044 24,933 67,977 91,523
259,820 330,489
203 -
328,000 422,012
2,392 1,128 3,520 7,362
- 8,580
47 1,210
1,709 7,414
5,276 24,566

.

RUZR) BRABD-ZZNFFH
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 ﬁ%ﬂﬁ*ﬂ'(%)

(b) Secondary reporting format (b) REEHRER —HEDIP
- geographical segments
Revenue is allocated based on the region in which WS TR EEP R SR - 22U K E
the customers are located. All revenue is generated RTGSHE - EARRX IR IEEEMEM DR -

from sales of services. Capital expenditure is
allocated based on where the assets are located.

ﬁ
2008 2007
ZEENF —ETLF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Revenue W5
Hong Kong a5 - 429,641
The PRC =8 - 197,200
Japan SN 13,877 17,888
Europe E - 3,380
Others Hi - 5.901
13,877 654,010
ﬁ
2008 2007
ZEENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Capital expenditure BEARRR
Hong Kong B 31,748 8,020
The PRC A 179 14,055
31,927 22,075
Unallocated Pl - 13,555
31,927 35,630
g
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Secondary reporting format

— geographical segments (continued)
Total assets are allocated based on where the

assets are located.

Segment assets
Hong Kong
The PRC
Japan

Total assets

6 OTHER EXPENSES

Provision for impairment losses on
— goodwill
— other intangible assets

DEEE
&3]
e
A

BEHRE

B AR
— e
— E A A

2 EBE R (&)

(b) XREE2HFN —hESD I @)

BERENREEMEE -

Hpix

—

2008 2007

—=z)\E | —TTtH

HK$'000 HK$’000

T T

258,279 327,583

68,345 92,908

1,173 1,521

327,797 422,012
—

2008 2007

—z2)\5 | —2BtH

HK$'000 HK$'000

T T

42,044 -

16,650 -

58,694 _

TRMER (ZR) BRATD-ZZNEFR
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7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 BRHMBEESZHAX

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total
BEER BERIEER et
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“ZE)\F | 25 E | B2 N\E | 228 FE | ZEENE | B2 tE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TET TEL TEL TEL
Provision for inventories, net FERETE - - - 475 - 475
Auditor’s remuneration Gk 1,219 789 - 236 1,219 1,025
Amortisation of other intangible assets ~ E b, & & 5H 10,390 - - - 10,390 -
Cost of inventories (Note) FEMA(F3) - - -| 581,166 -| 581,166
Depreciation of property, R YR
plant and equipment e 1,176 58 - 32,584 1,176 32,642
Net exchange losses/(gain) BB/ (k)34 377 (192) - 1,259 377 1,067
Write back of provision for YR URERE
impairment loss of trade receivables & {&#m - - - (424) - (424)
Loss on disposal of property, MIE - BERRER
plant and equipment HEFE 4 - - 348 4 348
Employee benefit expenses (induding  EEEAFEX (B
directors’ emoluments) (Note 10) 2=@2) (f:10) 17,662 4,648 - 90,508 17,662 95,156
Operating lease rental vtk tiika 1,563 100 - 9,322 1,563 9,422
Research and development expenditure 7% & f% & F 6,870 - - 13,316 6,870 13,316
Note: Cost of inventories recognised as expenses includes iz ERRARAICHEERABEYME - HEsRRER
amounts relating to depreciation of property, plant and E EERNAIRLEHENES S8 6HSHE
equipment, employee benefit expenses and operating et A LB R 2 R A S A -
lease rental, which are also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above.
8 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 8 HBWARBERE
o)
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAT FHEIT
Finance costs: BB -
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITIERF B HXZ
— wholly repayable within 5 years —BRAFHNEIEER (160) (3,512)
Finance income: 01 N
— interest income on bank deposits —IRITF R B U A 3,074 208
Net finance income/(costs) B (RVE RN ) S E5E 2,914 (3,284)
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9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

9 EEXRSAEEEME

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=EM=
The remuneration of every Director for the year BEERHE_ZEENEFE+_A=+—HUIEE
ended 31st December 2008 is set out below: ZBEmT
( Employer’s A
Salary & contribution
other to pension
Fees benefits scheme Total
Fek RARSHEZ
we HAEH EEHZK FEETS
Name of Director FEMUA HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FAET FAT FET FHET
OEIl Kang, Eric == 54 700 7 761
TSANG Sai Chung, Kirk® s 40 ) 54 700 7 761
CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph® (S50 54 700 7 761
LIU Zhixin® Elobil 55 - - 55
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel®@ RLEZRE) 6 100 1 107
CHEN Libo® PR IRO 36 708 4 748
ZHANG Songyi® ENE) 109 - - 109
TANG Siu Kui, Ernest( Ik B 109 - - 109
YU Hon To, David® BIEE 109 - - 109
KOO Ming Kown® EABR e - - - -
CHUI Kam Wai® IRERE - - - -
John Quinto FARINA® John Quinto
FARINA® - - - -
LIU Xue Qing® 2|26 - 146 2 148
YEOH Teck Hooi® HiEE 45 - 1 46
CHAM Yau Nam® D eaya(O) 56 - - 56
LEUNG Wai Hung® IO 56 - 56
CHOI Man Chau, Michael® Mo 56 - - 56
799 3,054 29 3,882
\_ J
Notes: BfaE -
(1) Appointed on 10th April 2008 (1) RZZEZENGFHUATHEZT
(2)  Appointed on 1st December 2008 2 RZZZN\F+-_A—HEZE
(3)  Appointed on 10th April 2008 and resigned on 30th B RZZEENFHOA+HEZERRZZTZENFILA=T
September 2008 HEt
(4)  Resigned on 2nd February 2008 4 RZZEZN\F-AZHEHT
(5)  Resigned on 10th April 2008 B ® TNFMNA+HEE
(6) Appointed on 2nd February 2008 and resigned on 6) RZZEENF_AZHZERRZ-ZTNFHEA+HE

10th April 2008

£

TRMER (ZR) BRATD-ZZNEFR

89



90

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

(continued)

(@)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)
The remuneration of every Director for the year
ended 31st December 2007 is set out below:

Name of Director BFEMS
Seitaro FURUKAWA® H)ILEARRO
KOO Ming Kown EBRR 1Y

CHUI Kam Wai REBE
YEOH Teck Hooi S
CHAM Yau Nam st
LEUNG Wai Hung REIE
CHENG Chi Heng® BB
CHOI Man Chau, Michael Z0M

LEE Wa Lun, Warren® TEEMHD

Notes:

(7)  Resigned during the year ended 31st December
2007

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year include five
directors (2007: two) whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. For the
remaining three highest paid individuals in 2007,
the emoluments (including basic salaries, housing
allowances, share options, other allowances and
benefits in kind) payable during the year were
HK$2,549,000. Each of their emoluments were
below HK$1,000,000.

9 EFEKSREEEME @

(@

BEEMS @
REEREE_ZEZ+F+_A=+—HILFE
e

Employer’s
Salary & contribution
other to pension
Fees benefits scheme Total
ek BRAREHEIZ
e H a7 BEHRK HEat
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T FHET T
70 148 - 218
- 1,580 12 1,692
540 1,199 12 1,751
120 - - 120
120 - - 120
43 - - 43
77 - - 77
970 2,927 24 3,921

(b)
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7)) REE-ZTAHEF+-A=+—BIFEE

FEMERSAL

FA - ARELEHERRALEERA(ZZE
tF  MB)EE  AMEFBENLEX - =F
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Wages, salaries and other benefits

Provision for unused annual leave

Pension costs — defined contribution
plan (Note a)

Charged to income statement (Note 7)

10 BERAMX

o)

2008 2007

—EENF TETLF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&TT T

TE - #FehEamEH 17,369 88,841

R FRBREE 183 -
RIRERA —

TEREMHEIETE(M5Ea) 110 6,315

fEiBam RN (H5E7) 17,662 95,156

11

Notes:

(@ The Group operates the MPF scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme
is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately. The Group’s contribution to the employee
pension scheme in the PRC is at a percentage in
compliance with the requirements of respective municipal
government.

(b)  Contributions totaling HK$107,000 (2007: HK$54,000)
were payable under the MPF scheme at 31st December
2008.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

No provision for Hong Kong profit tax has been made as
the Group has no assessable profit for the year (2007:
Nil). Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated
on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the
rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.

11

BT

@ AEEZBEERGIMELBERFEIRHZRERL—IE
BESHE - ZETERARBEBERGIZEZREE
Mk - WEE A BT MBI ETATE 2 ERHFURK
&t - RIFBVESE S BEMNERHARREEN
AR Z5% AT EIELMR - BB A ZHBARLRA
20,0008 7T ° T EIHKRBEENE BN ES - AEERT
B[R 8RS EEH Z HR T RRBEHERTRE
PACEES (i

(b) A #£107,000/8 7 ( =BT+ : 54,000/ 7T) 2 KA
BEABESHER-_ZT\F+A=+—HBEESX
fif -

FrigHiE %

e B SR BE PO AR BURR SR BB RIS B
IR BB | M) - SOTERIRIEE N
SERBUER - AR R ERERR 2 EFHEMbE
e

Current income tax

Overseas taxation

(Over)/under provision in prior years
Deferred income tax credit, net (Note 24)

Income tax credit

o)
2008 2007
—EENEFE BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FHBT

& EIFTIS R

BN IE 37 -
NS GRERE) BiETE (1,092) 1,981
EIEFTIS TR 558 (FisE24) (5,908) (12,884)
Fristis e (6,963) (10,9083)

TRMER (ZR) BRATD-ZZNEFR
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11

12

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 11 FrEHE % (@)
The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax REFFFEBRT(EIR) SHSM 2 I8 - B InEEY
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using MEMEBBARESHDESH 2B RHMEESENAT -
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of
the consolidated entities as follows:
ﬁ
2008 2007
ZEENF —TTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
(Loss)/profit before income tax: FTiS®iAT(&18), 5
Continuing operations BT (101,670) (15,808)
Discontinued operations ERIEREEE - 23,550
(101,670) 7,742
Share of loss of an associated company (5 — et & A B8 - 909
(Loss)/profit before income tax and share FriS#i K el — R & R A
of loss of an associated company EEp(ER) &BF (101,670) 8,651
Tax calculated at the domestic rates REBER 2 HFATER
applicable to profits in the respective W EHE 2 THIB
countries (18,864) 961
Expenses not deductible for taxation IR d 53
purpose 7,543 357
Income not subject to tax BEZRBBA (453) (4,046)
Tax losses not recognised RIERZBIBEBIE 5,903 1,734
(Over)/under provision in prior years DAEFE (RBERRME )BT R (1,092) 1,981
Effect on opening deferred tax of change TR ) 2 FYRER B2
in tax rate - (11,890)
Tax credit HIEE 2 (6,963) (10,903)
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 18.6% MMEFBEAREAE18.6%(ZTFLF 1 11.1%) °
(2007: 11.1%).
J.I.C. (Macao Commercial Offshore) Company Limited, RIERFIES E58/99/M5R » AR R 2 EM B A RIEH
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, is exempted CRFBEFIEERTS) BRAGIERRBNWRPITE/HT

from Macao Complementary Tax in accordance with e

the Macao Decree Law No. 58/99/M.

(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
is dealt with in the financial statements of the Company

to the extent of HK$72,900,000 (2007: profit of JL) °

HK$223,586,000).

HONG KONG ENERGY (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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13 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

14

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company (HK$ thousand)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
(HK cents per share)

The diluted (loss)/earnings per share is equal to the
basic (loss)/earnings per share as there were no dilutive
potential shares in issue for the years ended 31st
December 2008 and 2007 .

DIVIDENDS
No dividend was proposed and paid for the year ended
31st December 2008 (2007: Nil).

13

RABIBRESFA A
FEfh (B18),Sa A (&)
BT E B IEFI

FRER(ER), B (FEEIL)

14

ZR(ER) BF
BRER(BE), /BRI DREADBRRERTE AR
16 (B18), /B FIRF N B BATE @A 2 AT 19 Bt

= o
7t

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
(89,720) 228,462
763,534,755 763,534,755
(11.75) 29.92

FREE(BER)  BARENSRER(EER) 827 -
WHREBE—ZEN\FR_ETLF+-_A=+—H
IR EB B TEEEERD -

RE
E-TTN\ET AT BLEFE - WEREE
RS EARE(ZTTLE &) -

ERIEER (ZR) BRATD-FZNFFR
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 )% - HBREE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
Group improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
R
EE HEWMZEEE BERE:E RERESE B HEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAET FAT FHET
At 1st January 2007 N=—BELtE
—HA—H
Cost AN 69,881 171,946 8,230 2,269 252,326
Accumulated depreciation BEHTERBIE
and impairment (25,049) (95,264) (4,892) (1,290) (126,495)
Net book amount AREDFE 44,832 76,682 3,338 979 125,831
Year ended HE—BTtHE
31st December 2007 +=-H=+—H
IEEE
Opening net book amount FHREFEE 44,832 76,682 3,338 979 125,831
Additions NE 2,018 31,106 2,506 - 35,630
Disposals e (314) (10) (24) - (348)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBAF (36,934) (86,287) (4,474) (688) (128,383)
Acquisition of subsidiaries LU BB B B N | 1,050 - 446 201 1,697
Depreciation e (9,602) (21,491) (1,260) (289) (32,642)
Closing net book amount FHREEFE 1,050 - 532 203 1,785
At 31st December 2007 R=—BELtE
+=ZHA=+—H
Cost AN 1,050 161 725 293 2,229
Accumulated depreciation BEHTERBIE
and impairment - (161) (193) (90) (444)
Net book amount AREDFE 1,050 - 532 203 1,785
Year ended BE—TEN\E ( h
31st December 2008 +=-HA=+—H
IEEE
Opening net book amount FHREFEE 1,050 - 532 203 1,785
Exchange differences MEH =R 32 - 28 11 71
Additions NE 27 - 152 - 179
Disposals k= - - (95) 2 (97)
Depreciation e (779) - (287) (110) (1,176)
Closing net book amount FREEEF(E 330 - 330 102 762
At 31st December 2008 NR-BENE
+-H=+—H
Cost B AR 1,109 - 609 212 1,930
Accumulated depreciation 2T ENRE
and impairment (779) - (279) (110) (1,168)
Net book amount AREDFE - 330 - 330 102 762
_/
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(continued)

Company

At 1st January 2007
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31st December 2007

Opening net book amount
Depreciation

Closing net book amount

At 31st December 2007

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31st December 2008
Opening net book amount
Disposals

Depreciation

Closing net book amount

At 31st December 2008

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

R-FFtE¥-A-B
R
e

REFE

BE-FTtxE
+ZA=+—-BLEE

FYREFE

&

FREmFE

R-FTtE
+=A=+-H

A

ZEE

REFE

BEZRR\E
+-ZA=t+-HL£E

ERmEE

e

il

FREmFE

R-FBNE
tZR=+-H

AR

ZitiE

RE¥E

15 I3 - BBERRE @

Furniture,
Plant and fixtures and Motor
machinery equipment vehicles Total
A -
B R RERSE "E @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHET FAL
161 257 0 508
(161) (130) (90) (381)
- 127 - 127
- 127 - 127
- (54) - (64)
- 73 - 73
161 257 0 508
(161) (184) (90) (435)
- 73 - 73
~\
- 73 - 73
- (65) - (65)
- ) - )
J
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At 1st January 2007
Cost and net book amount

Year ended 31st December 2007

Opening net book amount

Disposal of subsidiaries

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Closing net book amount

At 31st December 2007

Cost and net book amount

Year ended 31st December 2008

Opening net book amount

Additions

Non-cash contribution from a
minority shareholder

Amortisation (Note 7)

Impairment loss (Note 6)

Closing net book amount

At 31st December 2008

Cost

16 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

R-¥%t¥-A-H
A R SREFHE

BE-FTtE+2A
=t-BLEE
FOEmFE

HEN B
WEHBAR

FREmFE

RZFFtETZA
=+-H
RARERFE

BE-FT)N\ETZR
=+-BiLEE
FUREFE

NE

—ZPEBRRL
FRE/A

B ()
EBE(M.)

FREmFE
R-FBN\E+ZA

=+-8
A

Accumulated amortisation and impairment £ zHE 4 K (&

Net book amount

REFE

16 HittBEEE

Computer Customer Software Biomass Club
software  relationship  technology ~ technology ~ debenture Total
Bikmft  EPER  BARNG  AvEREG emEs @&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAL FAT FAL FAT FAL
- - - - 381 381
- - - - 381 381
- - - - (381) (381)
- 18,110 12,739 - - 30,849
- 18,110 12,739 - - 30,849
- 18,110 12,739 - - 30,849
~\
- 18,110 12,739 - - 30,849
248 - - 17,325 - 17,573
- - - 14,175 - 14,175
(20) (3,622) (2,548) (4,200) - (10,390)
- (10,273) (6,377) - - (16,650)
228 4,215 3,814 27,300 - 35,557
248 18,110 12,739 31,500 - 62,597
(20) (13,895) (8,925) (4,200) - (27,040)
228 4,215 3,814 27,300 - 35,557
J
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The intangible assets of customer relationship and
software technology were resulted from the acquisition
of software business on 31st December 2007.
Following the outbreak of global economic crisis, the
demands of the software development services have
been decreasing. This has resulted in impairment
losses of HK$16,650,000 over the carrying amount of
the respective intangible assets which was determined
based on an assessment of the Group's software
development's value in use calculations.

The recoverable amount of the software business
unit has been determined based on a value-in-use
calculation. The value-in-use calculation uses pretax
cash flow based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five year period projections.
Cash flow beyond five years extrapolated based on a
discount rate of 17.79% taking into account the risk
level of the business unit and an annual growth rate
of 4% which does not exceed the industry average
long-term growth rate. Management believes that any
reasonably possible change in the key assumptions
would not cause software business unit’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount. Other key
assumptions relate to estimation in sales, profit margin
and operating cash outflows, which are based on the
business unit’s past performance and management
expectations for future development of the market and
the business.

GOODWILL

At 1st January m—H—H
Cost B AR

Acquisition of subsidiaries WHEMT B A A
Impairment (Note 6) A (FEE6)
At 31st December Bn+=ZA=+—H

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's software
development business which is reported as one of the
Group's operating segment.

HihBEEE @)
%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁiiﬂﬁﬂr&zﬁﬁiﬁﬁma AZRELF A+
A=+—BREZSHER - 2IRBEQECHEE - &
HRZERE 2 F KBRS BBUREEF EEREE
REE1E16,650,000/8 7T © B E R TR IR S Bt
&2 FAEEEAFGEE

$@%%$MZTW@%$Emﬁﬁ%F@ﬁ ETE

cFREBEFEEFEATAREST  REEEEM
/E &R FE  MSTEE KR - e E AIRANR X
17.79%HHE AFETER - WEFT REBEM 2 RRKK
FRABBRITERAFHEREAY CF/EE - B1F
BHEE - TEBR2TMAEAEES TS EHRE T
ENEREBEEATKES5E - LB REEH
& RMEREERSRLFERZMERR - WIAES
B 2 @ERRREBBEARKN S REKER 2 TEH
YEfRE o

17 BHE

ﬁ
2008 2007
—EENF —ZTTAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
42,044 -
- 42,044
(42,044) -
- 42,044

BEN R TIERASERLEDHZ —
PR

Exo g SUILICES

ERIEER (ZR) BRATD-FZNFFR



98

17

18

HONG KONG ENERGY (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008

GOODWILL (continued)

Following the event as described in note 16, the Group
has made an impairment losses of HK$42,044,000
which was determined based on an assessment of
the Group's software development's value-in-use
calculations.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted shares, at cost

Provision for impairment DR
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B B A AR IE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATBY BB A B RUE

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. Their
carrying amounts are not materially different from their
fair values.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out on
pages 114 to 115.

REMRAD - AR

17 BE W)

BT 16l EHEZ  AEEHELBRESRE
42,044,000/ 7C - EASBEIIREAEEEHREZF
FREEEETEET -

18 RBERARZRE

Company
P/N/N]
ﬁ
2008 2007
ZEENF —ETLF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT
82,623 82,623
(57,800) -
24,823 82,623
42,777 -
(66,836) (67,250)
764 15,373

BRSHAEER 28 MEREERMR - mEKE
BERATELTESKER -

FTEWB ARG ZFBENEI14EEE115H o



19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

19 FEURRRFR K E b FE U =K

Group Company
REE Vi/NE]
— —
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ZTENF —RELF —TENF —ETAF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET
Trade receivables FEUTAR X 1,686 1,521 - -
Other receivables H b ek 697 910 157 270
2,383 2,431 157 270
— s

At 31st December 2008 and 2007, the ageing analysis
of trade receivables are as follows:

Less than 30 days LR =+8
30 days to less than 60 days =t+HELIHATH

The Group’s policy is to allow credit periods ranging
from 30 days to 90 days (2007: 30 days to 90 days) to
its trade customers. There were no trade receivables
being past due as of 31st December 2008 and 2007.

RoFE\FR-FFLET-AS TR - BUER

ZEBBAITWT :
G

2008 2007

—TT)N\F —ETLF

HK$’000 HK$'000

Fi7T FiT

1,686 1,365

- 156

1,686 1,621

AKE 2 BE BARESEPREN FOAE0R (=
TELE STAEATE)ZEEN  REBBNF
LEFZASH—R - ERRBEKIEL -

— ==

TRMER (ZR) BRATD-ZZNEFR
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19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 BWAERMR K HEMER @

(continued)

Movement on the provision for impairment of JEWGR 2 BB EE BT
receivables are as follows:

2008 2007
—EEN\F ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1st January R—HA—H - 765
Write back of the provision for B ERERD
impairment - (424)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—REH B AR - (341)
At 31 December w+=—A=+—H - -
The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other 7 52 8 R L B R R L A R MR 2 BRI TH A TN B B8 5T
receivable are denominated in the following currencies: B :
ﬁ
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Hong Kong dollar BIT 161 910
Japanese Yen = 298 -
Renminbi AR 238 -
US Dollars ETT 1,686 1,521
2,383 2,431
The other receivables of the Company are denominated AR B E A EUGR Ty APS TTETE ©
in Hong Kong dollars.
All trade and other receivables do not contain impaired Fra FEWER R R A FE MR B R DR B EE © I
assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the SRR E=EERR A NS BERKE CREE -
reporting date is the carrying value of each class of REENW BB AR IRmIEER -

receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold
any collateral as security.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 RERBREEEY

Group Company
REE /NG
— )
2008 2007 2008 2007
—zens | —zzrs| -zeps | -z
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FAL FHEIL FEL
Cash and cash equivalents R MREEED
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFERS 66,364 332,598 45,334 327,267
Short-term bank deposits KERIRITE 222,731 11,960 212,408 -
289,095 344,558 257,742 327,267
Group Company
KEE Vi /NC
) —
2008 2007 2008 2007
—zznE | —zEtE| czEAE | c—TEiE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAL FHIT FHEL
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeEEY
(@) Placed inbanksinthe PRC:  (a) RPBERITEE -
— denominated in Renminbi N 11,937 12,161 - -
— denominated in —UEBTHEE
Hong Kong Dollars 11,903 2,410 - -
— denominated in US Dollars —ETLEE 2,004 1,574 - -
— denominated in —PURPILEE
Macau Dollars 37 81 - -
(b) Placed in banks in Hong Kong: (b) REBERITEE ¢
— denominated in — A TEE
Hong Kong Dollars 262,298 327,122 257,707 327,122
— denominated in US Dollars —ETLEE 35 107 35 107
(©) Placed in banks in Japan: € REAZHFIFE
— denominated in —-BEHE
Japanese Yen 854 1,060 - -
(d) Cashin hand: (d) FEBRS 27 43 - 38
289,095 344,558 257,742 327,267
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20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date

were as follows:

Short-term bank deposits

20 BERBEEEEY @)
REEH 2 ERFIRMOT :

(

HKS
AT

RERITET 0.01%-1.2%

2008 h
—FEN\F
Us$ RMB HK$
e N e

0.05% 0.36%-1.71% | 1.5%-3.6%

2007
e
US$
ESY

1.37%

RVB
AE®

1.5%-3.6%

\

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of the cash and bank balances

stated above.

The short-term bank deposits of the Group and the
Company have original maturities of three months or

less.

21 SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
At 31st December 2007 and 2008

Issued and fully paid:
At 31st December 2007 and 2008

RiE A m 2 RSEER
TTHEEREREI(E

@ E Xt 2 R e KR

REERAREREBRITERZ REEA A= 1E A 5
_F o
21 RA
Non-redeemable
convertible preference
Ordinary shares of shares of
HK$0.01 each HK$0.01 each (note) Total
BIRAEE.01ET BREBE0.01ETL
ZERER A BEEARRELR (i) st
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000 HK$'000
BHEE TEr BRHEE TET FET
AR
RZZTLER_TTNE
+-A=+—~H 2,000,000,000 20,000 600,000,000 6,000 26,000
E?‘ﬁﬂ%&%ﬁ(ﬂ :
+_ﬂ :Jr* H 763,534,755 7,635 - - 7,635
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21 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 21 BARc@E)

Note: The preference shares were not redeemable and the Mizk : BERATAIER - HiE ANERERL - BARESR
holders of which should not be entitied to vote. At any BARBLEE 2 TR - BERE1.03RELKHE
time after allotment, each holder of the preference BAIREBR 2 VT HELEE - HHE2 IR EL
shares should be entitled to convert all or a portion A% H 30 s EmAk - M ARERELERELKBE - K
of his/her preference shares into fully paid ordinary DA EBREEREZFT LT - SRR Al R R
shares at the initial conversion rate of 1 ordinary share BETEBRERAAREFOBITEMNT B - &
for every 1.03 preference shares, provided that for BAREEIARBFEARRIEBRABEZEED
the purposes of ensuring the continued listing of the H(EHERBIES TR ZIRE)  BlEL
Company’s ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange B AN BITHERRRE - SiXIRE S IR (BB
after the conversion of the preference shares, no holder DIRERINTE - BERBEE BRI ZEREER - K
of preference shares should be entitled to exercise the ZETN\FRZFETLF+A=+—H - WEET
conversion rights if, the Company’s ordinary shares FRMB LR o
issued upon conversion together with any ordinary
shares of the Company then in issue would result in
the minimum prescribed percentage of the Company’s
ordinary shares in public hands (as defined in the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange from time to time) not being satisfied. On
any payment of dividend or distributions (other than
a distribution on winding up), the preference shares
should rank pari passu with the ordinary shares. No
preference shares were issued as of 31st December
2008 and 2007.

22 RESERVES 22 f#fE
Share Goodwill  Exchange Special Retained Total
Group AEE premium reserve reserve reserve eamnings reserves
RIVEE EERE EREE  BARE  RERN REes
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT TR THET THET

Balance at 1st January 2007 RZZT+E—-A—-B##H 175 (8,351) - (6,774) 176299 161,349

Profit for the year REERF - - - - 208462 228,462

Released upon disposal L& B D Rl AR RR

of subsidiaries - 8,351 - - (8,351) -
Balance at 31st December 2007 R =ZZ+F+ A
—t—B#&#% 175 - - 6,774) 396,410 389,811
\ 4

Balance at 1st January 2008 R-ZTZ\FE—-A—H&EH 175 - - (6,774) 396,410 389,811

Transfer to retained eamings ERREEF - - - 6,774 (6,774) -

Exchange differences [ERERE - - 1,085 - - 1,085

Loss for the year AEFER - - - - (89,720) (89,720)

Balance at 31st December 2008 R -ZZN\F+_A

=t+—B#&H 175 - 1,085 - 299916 301,176
. J

EBHER(ZER) BRABD=ZZ/N\FFH 103



22 RESERVES (continued) 22 & m)

Share Special Retained Total
Company Zi/N=] premium reserve earnings reserves
(Note)
R E SHl REEH [t
(BR5E)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TAT THT
Balance at 1st January 2007 RZZZ+F-HA—RB&H 175 98,709 - 98,884
Profit for the year KFEERF - - 223,586 223,586
Balance at 31st December 2007 MN_ZEZtF+_fA
—+—B#&& 175 98,709 223,586 322,470
Balance at 1st January 2008 RZZENF—A—HB#&H 175 98,709 223,586 322,470
Loss for the year AEEEE - - (72,900) (72,900)
Balance at 31st December 2008 HK—_ZZENF+-A=+—H&%#% 175 98,709 150,686 249,570
Note: The special reserve of the Company was related to an PR - Z’“‘@ﬂ»\Z%E‘Jﬁ%fﬁiﬁiﬁéigg_fﬁ_ﬂ —HAT—HK
acquisition prior to 1st January 2001 and continued to EEEAM  WEERERET -

be held in reserves.

23 BORROWINGS 23 faw
Group and Company
REERAAF
2008 2007
ZEENF ZETLF
HK$ 000 HK$’000
FAT FHT
Bank borrowings, unsecured RITE - AR - 8,580
During the year, the Group has repaid the bank RAFE  ARERERRITER - MAKE BRI
borrowings and the Group did not enter into any new EFIRITE R HE -
bank loan arrangement.
As at 31st December 2007, the bank borrowings were RZTBZL+F+_A=+—8  RBITEREUNETE
bank loans denominated in US dollars with interest rates HZRTER - BERRIERITRZEFRENN T0.55EE
from 0.55% to 0.75% over London Interbank Offered 0.75/2 2 FHME IR B M EE 60E £5.77E5 R °
Rate per annum and effective interest rate from 5.60%
10 5.77%.
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24 DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.

The offset amounts are as follows:

Deferred tax assets RETIBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EIETRIEAE
Deferred tax liabilities, net EERBAEE TS
At 1st January »n—H—H
Acquisition of a subsidiary WiE—FMM B A F]

Credited to income statement FFABRE

At 31st December R+-_A=+—H

24 IRIEFIIE

i B AT RO SR BB T < B B AR TR & S AN AR IR
BEEHE  METHAEENAELER —HBEREIE
MRBEHEBRZ AEHAR - EAKRERIRFREAE
BERERE - MSREEERREENAS -

BRI T
o)
2008 2007
—ETNF —TTAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT
203 -
(1,709) (7,414)
(1,506) (7,414)
s
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ZTT+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT T
(7,414) -
- (7,414)
5,908 -
(1,506) (7,414)
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24 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

24 IRIEFIIE (@)

The movement in deferred income tax assets EWEL MAR— AR el AR 2 IRE A8 A - F
and liabilities during the year, without taking into JIELREMEERABESHNOT

consideration the offsetting of balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities

ELEFEPHEaE

Fair value gain on
intangible assets
BIVEEZ NFERE

HK$’000

FET

At 1st January 2007 R-_EZE+F—H—H -

Acquisition of subsidiary W EE BT /&8 A 7 (7,414)

At 31st December 2007 RZEE+F+—A=1+—H (7,414)

At 1st January 2008 R-BZENFE—-F—H (7,414)

Credited to income statement FTABER 5,705

At 31st December 2008 R-BEENF+=-HA=+—H (1,709)
Deferred income tax assets BEFEHESE

Tax losses

THIEE B

HK$'000

T

At 1st January 2008 R-BENE—-HA—H -

Credited to income statement FFABER 203

At 31st December 2008

R-BENF+ZA=+—H 203
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24

25

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax
loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of
the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is
probable. The deferred income tax asset arising from tax
losses is related to the software technology business.
Current financial position indicates it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which
the unused tax losses can be utilised. The unused tax
losses will expire in 2013.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of HK$10,898,000 (2007: HK$4,996,000) in
respect of losses amounting to HK$65,686,000 (2007:
HK$30,284,000) that can be carried forward against
future taxable income. These tax losses have no expiry
dates.

OTHER PAYABLES
The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables are
denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong Dollars BIT
Renminbi AR
Japanese Yen H

The other payables of the Company are denominated in
the Hong Kong dollar.

24

25

IEFERIE ()

%78 A] BE B B AR R IE R B i A5 B B 2 FIE R e B3R
Blgpias o HIEEEEREEHRIESE - HIEBEE
HZIEEFTSE EMBMH RN B R o B ATE ISk

3 o RBARBEIE/N —T—=F3H -

7N £ B 37 £ B E5 18 65,686,000 T ( T L F ¢
30,284,000/% 7T ) MERIELE FT15 7 & 210,898,000/ 7T
(ZZZ £ : 4,996,000 70) FALAGEEIK I A EERR
A - ZEMIBEBWEIEA -

HAth A5
ARG B E B A R 2 IR DA T3 S 45

)

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FHET
2,357 5,289

865 1,516

298 557

3,520 7,362

ARE 2 BN RIAETHEE -

ERIEER (ZR) BRATD-FZNFFR
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26 COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital commitments
Capital expenditure at the balance sheet date but
not yet incurred was as follows:

26 &iE

(a) BAXEE

REERCARERREEZEARSNT

ﬁ
2008 2007
ZEENF ZETLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT
Capital expenditure in respect of EHRENREREE 2EAFAY ¢
alternative energy projects:
Contracted but not provided for EHEEMEN ST 396,795 -
Capital injection in an associated FERERIBER M—fEE AT
company in respect of EREE -
alternative energy projects:
Contracted but not provided for SEEENZ S 110,014 -
506,809 -
(b) Commitments under operating leases (b) RIBEEHE AL
The aggregate future minimum lease payments BEBEB@ELHREF I A FHEEEHEE 2 RK
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect HIEESLENT
of land and buildings were as follows:
ﬁ
2008 2007
ZETNF TEELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT
No later than 1 year —FR 6,613 831
Later than 1 year and R—FETNERRF
no later than 5 years 8,843 172
15,456 1,003
g
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27 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into transactions with the following
related parties for the years ended 31st December 2007
and 2008.

(@) Management services fee of HK$3,159,000 (2007:
Nil) was paid to the ultimate holding company
during the year 2008, of which HK$2,099,000
(2007: Nil) is subject to the annual caps under
continuing connected transactions between the
Group and HKC.

(b) Recharge of office expense of HK$1,243,000
(2007: HK$3,865,000) was paid to Zastron
Precision-Tech Limited, a fellow subsidiary wholly
owned by previous shareholder of the Company.

(c) Key management compensation

Salaries and other benefits Fre REAER
Directors’ fees vk
Pension cost RIKEKAR

- defined contribution scheme — — F B FETE]

27 BEALIRS

REE-—ZRLFER-_FT/\F+-A=+—ALF
& AEEELTREATETRS -

(@ ERZZEZNFRAHKERQAAIMNEER
%E3159000 B L (ZFFTLF : F) o &
2,000,000 L (=2 +F | T)AETAREEHE
BARRETCHERERIBE TN 2FELR -

(b) TrA1Zastron Precision-Tech Limited(— R4~ A Al
BRR2EHREZRAZMBAR) INBRAEHRAX
1,243,000/ 7L (—TZ 4 : 3,865,000/87T) °

c) TEEEEREZHE

—
2008 2007
—zEnE| —EEes
HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT T

3,054 2,927

799 970

29 24

3,882 3,921

ERIEER (ZR) BRATD-FZNFFR
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28 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 28 FERERERMET
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Reconciliation of operating profit/(loss) to (a) RBEHF(FBE) EALEELKFIARSTHE
net cash used in operations ZHER
2008 2007
—EEN\F ZETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHT

(Loss)/profit before income tax Fris®ian (&) &F (101,670) 7,742
Finance costs RUE R AN 160 3,512
Finance income B A (3,074) (228)
Depreciation and amortisation IrE LY 11,566 32,642
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - HeE L RIEER

plant and equipment 4 348
Provision for inventories FEEE - 475
Impairment losses on goodwil AEREREEREEE

and intangible asset 58,694 -
Reversal of provision for FEWER SR 2 R B R R

impairment losses on

trade receivables - (424)
Share of loss of FEAE —FEIEsE = A A& 1R

an associated company - 909
Operating loss before working LBESEBALEREIE

capital changes (34,320) 44,976
Decrease in inventories FERD - 2,954
Decrease in amount due from U — R 2B B A~ Bk IE R A

a fellow subsidiary - 223
Decrease/(increase) in trade and JRE LS B Tk K% EL At E WO (BE )

other receivables 241 (38,989)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables — EAbfETERCRA) /42N (3,844) 35,252
Increase in amounts due to FER —FEIR R B A B FRIAE N

fellow subsidiaries - 24,107
Cash (used in)/generated from KL (TR, P38 4e

operations (37,923) 68,523
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28 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 28 MEBRESRERM T @
CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)

(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries (b) WEBKE AT
2007
ZETLF
HK$’'000
FiBT
Net assets acquired P& = FE
Property, plant and equipment ME - IR KRG 1,697
Trade receivables FEUTAR X 1,894
Tax recoverable AT EI R IR 236
Bank balances and cash IRITEBR LIRS 14,802
Other intangible assets HvfmpEE 30,849
Other payables H R (2,072)
Current income tax liabilities BNERFRS T B f& (10)
Deferred income tax liabilities FIEFSHEaE (7,414)
39,982
Goodwill on acquisition WHEFTE A2 42,044
Cash paid for direct expenses incurred in WEETEAERAY 2
relation to the acquisition BEfEE (1,526)
Consideration RE 80,500
Satisfied by: ATRFIE A
Cash consideration ReERE (82,026)
Cash and bank balances acquired Fri s iR & RIRTT4E AR 14,802
(67,224)
(c) Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash (c) ERYENBARZRASRREEEBYR
equivalents in respect of acquisition of RSN
subsidiaries
2007
—EELF
HK$’'000
FiBT
Cash consideration ReERE (82,026)
Cash and bank balances acquired FTEEIR & MIRTT 454 14,802
(67,224)
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28 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)
(d) Disposal of subsidiaries

Net assets disposed
Property, plant and equipment
Machinery under installation
Other intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary
Cash and bank balances
Trade and other payables
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
Deferred income tax liabilities

Gain on disposal
Consideration

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration
Cash and bank balances disposed of

(e) Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of disposal of
subsidiaries

Cash consideration
Cash and bank balances disposed of

28 HMEHREHRERM=TE @)

(d) HEKELQF

FrhEEERE
ER =) &y
ZE PR
Hit\EE
EIETRIRE E
E3
JRE LS B A K A B AR
JE U — R 5P B & B3R IR
e RIRTTHER
FEATRR R EA A 3R
FEUL R 5 P8 A R 5RIR
ERFERAE

AR
Rer(E
PERIR & SR RTTASER

2007
—EELF
HK$'000
FHET

128,383
3,893
381
12,884
51,148
139,061
316
33,319
(120,037)
(24,107)
(54,817)

170,424
209,817

380,241

380,241

(33,319)

346,922

) FRALEMBRAZRERREEBWRA

RED AT

ReE
AT &R e RIRTTAES
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2007
—EELF
HK$’'000
FBT

380,241
(83,319)

346,922



29 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET
DATE

@)

On 3rd February 2009, the Group obtained a
business license for setting up a joint venture
company to invest in the construction and
operation of a 100.5MW wind farm project in
Lunaobao, Zhangbei, Hebei Province, the PRC.

On 15th April 2009, the Company proposed to
make a bonus issue of warrants to its shareholders
on the basis of 1 bonus warrant for every 10 shares
held. The subscription price will be determined
on 22nd April 2009 at a discount to the average
closing price of the shares for 5 consecutive
trading days (up to and including 22nd April 2009).
There is no financial effect to the Company and the
Group upon the grant of such bonus warrants.

29 HEARSEE

(@)

“EENF_AZH  AEBEGMKIZEE QT
%%*é%%ﬂﬁ” LATERR Bl b A R AL B AR IS B 1%
B N EE100.5K 2B NHEE -

RZZZNFHEA+TER - ARAREMHKR
BITANRRER - BESEBRA10RKNE

B ALN R AERE - ﬁ%FfHEA47 ENEFN
A+ —REEH i—??ﬂﬁzmﬂ +—H
(BHE%ZA) HEESER S B FIHRTE 2 EE
E o RN ABANRBEEYL &S AR AEKE
MEA TSR -

ERIEER (ZR) BRATD-FZNFFR
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

TEMBLTE

PARTICULAR OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Listed below are the principal subsidiaries which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affect the result and/or net

assets of the Group.

Name

A

J..C. Enterprises (Hong Kong) Limited*
ENETES(BR)BERAR

J.I.C. (Macao Commercial
Offshore) Company Limited*
ENORPIRE AR BARAR)

Namtek Japan Company Limited?

Shenzhen Namtek Company Limited**
A EEF B R AR

Best Whole Holdings Limited*
REZBRERAG)!

Joy Holdings Limited”

Hong Kong Biomass Energy**
Company Limited
BREmEERERAA

Hong Kong Biomass Energy (BVI)**
Co. Limited
EEENEERBV)ERA R

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
kind of legal entity

SRR, B 2
REEBEEN
Hong Kong

B

Macao
il

Japan

SR

the PRC/Wholly foreign-owned

enterprise

VL i3

Hong Kong
BE

British Virgin Islands
RERUEE

Hong Kong

BE

British Virgin Islands
RBRUES

TENBARFE

TRENEERAUFEEXER SIEEFERERTE

Z X EMBRAIFFS °

Principal activities

Inactive

TEEx

Inactive
Tmex

Provision of sales co-ordination
and marketing services to
fellow subsidiaries

MFAZMER AR EHE BAR
5 R8I ARA%

Solution provider for
software development

R BR RIER

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

REER
Cellulosic Ethanol Project

Bz BER

Investment holding

REEK
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Issued

share capital/
Paid up
registered capital

EBIRA/
ENFEMER

HK$500,000
500,000/ 7T

HK$97,500

97 5007 7T

JPY1,000,000

1,000,000H

US$800,000
800,000 T

HK$1
18T
USS$1
ES

HK$1
18T

US$100
100%7T

Percentage
of equity/
Paid up
registered
capital held
FiisiEs,/
BENEHMER
BNt

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

55%

55%



PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

TEMBLTE

Name

A

HKE (Biomass) Holdings Limited"*
BHER(ENE ) ERER AT

BRI T TIERAE AR DA

Hong Kong New Energy

(Si Zi Wang Qi Il) Wind Power Limited*
BANR (N TE_E) BB RN A

Hong Kong New Energy
Si Zi Wang Qi Il (BVI) Wind
Power Limited**
BEIEERIL T TE=EBV)
Rlg AR AR

HKE (Da He) Holdings Limited*
BAMR (KN ERBR QA

HKE Da He (BVI) Holdings Limited**
BEITER AT BV)IERAR QA
HKE (Wind Power) Holdings Limited?*
EER(RE)ERERARY
HKE (Services) Limited”
BEMER(ER)ERAR

Notes:

+ Interest held by subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
kind of legal entity

ML S E,

MARERRL

British Virgin Islands
RBRIES

the PRC/Sino-foreign
equity joint venture

hE/ PR ERE
Hong Kong

B

British Virgin Islands
RERAEE

Hong Kong
BA

British Virgin Islands
RABRIES

British Virgin Islands
RERLEE

Hong Kong
BE

# Not audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers

A Newly set up or acquired in 2008

Principal activities

Investment holding
REER

Wind power project in Siziwang Qi,

Inner Mongolia

REANFEEZANEEER
Investment holding

REEK

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

REER

Human resources management

ANEREE

GEX

+

BRAMBARRA

Issued

share capital/
Paid up
registered capital

BEITRA,
EftFBER

US$1
ESH

RMB8,824,056

AR8,824,0567C

HK$1,000
1,000/7T

Us$1
Ev

HK$1
17T

US$1
EH

US$1
E

HKS$1
18T

WIEARBE RGBSR ETATE %

RZTBN\FHAIIEE

Percentage
of equity/
Paid up
registered
capital held
Giest: 574
EffHMER
BOH

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

TRMER (ZR) BRATD-ZZNEFR
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFNBRERBE

Consolidated income statement
Revenue

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax credit/(expense)

Profit/(loss) for the year
Minority interests

Profit/(loss) attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Consolidated balance sheet
Net current assets
Non-current assets
Non-current liabilities

Net assets including
minority interests

Share capital
Reserves
Minority interests

Total equity

Earnings/(loss) per share

- basic
Dividend per share

— attributable to the year
Return on total equity (Note)

Note:

Return on total equity represents the current year’s profit/loss for the
year expressed as a percentage of the closing total equity for the

year concerned.

3F
Bk o>
ol
D]
Bl
it

=
<

FIEmAnER/ (B18)
FrgmiEe /()

AELRF /(E8)
LR

ARAIBRRESFHAA
R/ (E18)

HARBEERER
MBEEFE
FRBEE
FRBAME

BEFE(BE
D H R L)

AR
G
DR

PR AR

SREN/(&8E)
—&ERK

RS
—FEES

PR an AR E R R
(FffEE)

ﬁ
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
—¥EM\F | TTLE  STTAE CTTRE CTINA
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHT TAT FAL FHL
13,877 654,010 504,297 458,498 384,330
(101,670) 217,559 28,794 37,964 23,956
6,963 10,903 (601) (583) (521)
(94,707) 228,462 28,193 37,381 23,435
4,987 - - - -
(89,720) 228,462 28,193 37,381 23,435
287,911 330,182 47,575 28,310 39,754
36,522 74,678 129,934 149,840 134,465
(1,709) (7,414) (8,525) (22,088) (40,267)
322,724 397,446 168,984 156,062 133,952
7,635 7,635 7,635 7,635 7,635
301,176 389,811 161,349 148,427 126,317
13,913 - - - -
322,724 397,446 168,984 156,062 133,952
ﬁ

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
“RRAE | CTTEF C2TAF S2TREF CTEMA
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
&l AL eyl B gl
(11.75) 29.92 3.69 4.90 2.18

Nil Nil Nil 4.0 1.5
(27.8%) 57.5% 16.7% 24.0% 17.5%

PR -
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